In partnership with Sanofi and KPMG



UHC 2.0: Charting a Course to Sustainable Healthcare and Finance in the Asia-Pacific

24

WHITE PAPER OCTOBER 2021 Images: Getty Images All figures: World Economic Forum, KPMG and Sanofi

Contents

Executive summary	3
Introduction	4
1 Remaining gaps in healthcare delivery and financing	7
2 Solution set A: Sustainable healthcare delivery	15
3 Solution set B: Sustainable healthcare financing	19
4 The path forward	24
Appendix A: Country snapshots	26
– Australia	26
- India	32
– Japan	38
– Viet Nam	45
Appendix B: Solution clustering details and crowdsourcing inputs	52
Contributors	53
Acknowledgements	54
Endnotes	60

Disclaimer

This document is published by the World Economic Forum as a contribution to a project, insight area or interaction. The findings, interpretations and conclusions expressed herein are a result of a collaborative process facilitated and endorsed by the World Economic Forum but whose results do not necessarily represent the views of the World Economic Forum, nor the entirety of its Members, Partners or other stakeholders.

© 2021 World Economic Forum. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, including photocopying and recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system.

Executive summary

It is time to begin the journey from UHC 1.0 to UHC 2.0 in the Asia-Pacific.

The Asia-Pacific (APAC), home to about 60% of the world's population, faces multiple factors that challenge the sustainability of the delivery and finance models behind existing healthcare systems – an ageing population, the rise in communicable and non-communicable diseases, and the urgency of achieving universal health coverage (UHC) over the next 10 years, to name just a few. The recent Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic has further revealed the fragility of regional healthcare systems and the opportunity to transform them using more sustainable healthcare finance and delivery models.

Against such a backdrop, Sanofi and KPMG, with the support of the World Economic Forum, are producing a position paper, themed *UHC 2.0: Charting a Course to Sustainable Healthcare and* *Finance in the Asia-Pacific*, which identifies finance and delivery models in APAC to achieve better health outcomes twinned with more efficient use of resources. This report will inform programming and high-level discussions on global health system resiliency at relevant World Economic Forumhosted events. To ensure the report offers insightful and practical solutions, Sanofi and KPMG are organizing co-creation workshops to collaborate with stakeholders throughout the public and private sectors in several countries in the APAC region.

This paper focuses on the major challenges of the day: life-course immunization, diabetes management and rare diseases. Detailed calls-to-action for policy-makers, at the regional and country-specific level, including opportunities for public-private collaborations, are included in order to achieve UHC 2.0.



Introduction

There is a need to address an evolving demographic and socioeconomic make-up in the region, along three disease pathways, on the march towards health-for-all.

There is much to be proud of in the Asia-Pacific (APAC) region. Longer life expectancy, access to quality essential services, and increased levels of investment have helped boost the socioeconomic development of the region. Despite this, it is important not to be complacent. With many governments facing heavy criticism over the design of their healthcare systems and the COVID-19

pandemic exposing their underlying weaknesses, there remains room for improvement.¹

We are all aware that the population demographics are changing and, quite simply, the models of universal health coverage 1.0 (UHC 1.0),² which are nearly 100 years old, are no longer fit for purpose in APAC, whether for developing or developed countries.

FIGURE 1 An overview of the healthcare landscape in Asia-Pacific

Healthcare landscape in Asia-Pacific

Asia-Pacific's healthcare system is facing unprecedented pressures:



The need to enhance the "sustainability" of healthcare systems

FIGURE 2

An overview of current health expenditure in Singapore, Australia, Japan, India and Viet Nam

Health expenditure as a % of GDP ³					
High-income			Low-middle incor	ne	
Singapore	Australia	Japan	India	Viet Nam	
4.5%	9.3%	11.0%	3.5%	5.9%	

FIGURE 3 | An overview of life expectancy at birth in Singapore, Australia, Japan, India and Viet Nam

Life expectancy at birth ⁴					
High-income			Low-middle incor	ne	
Singapore	Australia	Japan	India	Viet Nam	
83.5	82.9	84.0	69.7	75.4	

FIGURE 4

An overview of the population aged 65 and over in Singapore, Australia, Japan, India and Viet Nam

Population aged 65 and over as a % of total population ⁵						
High-income			Low-middle incor	ne		
Singapore	Australia	Japan	India	Viet Nam		
13.4%	16.2%	28.4%	6.6%	7.9%		

In this report, we call on policy-makers in the region to consider more creative strategies that maximize precious resources and achieve what we have termed "universal health coverage 2.0" (UHC2.0): a model designed for generational impact, and which ensures that healthcare delivery and finance models in APAC can sustain themselves. For example, rather than relying purely on tax- or employer-funded schemes for investment in social services such as healthcare neither of which are suitable for APAC, given the low levels of taxation and formal employment, not to mention rapidly shifting demographics – we advocate plans based on innovative principles, such as making use of capital market surpluses (e.g. debt financing for social impact bonds), consumer-level incentive frameworks that share the accountability load, and even crowdfunding.

In making our conclusions, the core research team, comprising the World Economic Forum, Sanofi and KPMG set out to hear from stakeholders in APAC about their desires for a more sustainable UHC future. After researching existing global literature and running a virtual ideation exercise, we conducted a series of co-creation sessions throughout low-income, middle-income and high-income countries in the region. These sessions involved representatives from government, healthcare practitioners, academia, private insurers, patient groups, tech firms (large and small), financiers - including banks, investors, insurance and development agencies - as well as other privatesector constituents such as pharmaceutical and medical device companies and distributors. We are grateful for these valuable contributions, which are listed under Contributors and Acknowledgements.



In addition to the innovation in research approach, this report goes beyond typical sustainable healthcare white papers by delving into the details of care pathways at a granular level. It is structured around three thematic areas, which reflect the most pressing needs:

- Life-course immunization (LCI): This is vaccination throughout life, which not only helps individuals maintain good health, but can bring public health and socioeconomic benefits.⁶ Life-course immunization is one of the most cost-effective public health interventions, and can save millions of lives, yet is largely taken up only by children in APAC, particularly in India and Viet Nam.⁷
- 2. Diabetes management (DM): Diabetes can affect almost every part of the body and managing the disease effectively can help prevent ancillary health problems.⁸ The rapidly rising number of diabetes patients throughout the APAC raises concerns about effective management.

However, the rising tide may be irreversible, as many cases remain undiagnosed. People need access to screening, diagnostics and finance for proper self-care. To control the rising numbers, personal responsibility, better access to selfmanagement tools, and finance for proper selfcare are vital to prevent type 2 diabetes.⁹

 Rare diseases (RD): These are also known as orphan diseases, because previously drug companies were not interested in adopting them to develop treatments.¹⁰ Crucially, they are not rare at all – 10% of populations suffer from some form of these illnesses,¹¹ with more than 300 million people worldwide affected by them.¹²

Health-for-all and health-for-wealth are old mantras. UHC 2.0 raises the standards by embedding care and well-being as standard operating procedures at all levels of society. Delivery and finance models must be reformed to unlock the potential that our future populations deserve. The time for change with generational impact is now.

FIGURE 5

An overview on our research findings



1 Remaining gaps in healthcare delivery and financing

More efficient use of resources, greater creativity in capacity development, and empowerment at all levels are the needs of the hour.



This section identifies the gaps created by adhering to UHC 1.0, allowing us to reorient towards UHC 2.0. Hence, the co-creation sessions (as well as the pre/post activities such as surveys, crowdsourcing, debrief discussions) entailed devoting much time to outlining the anticipated obstacles on the road ahead. Results from the solutions, shown in Section 2, are aligned more closely to UHC 2.0 thinking.

Taxation is a traditional form of finance for healthcare activities, but with the increasing ageing population and the growing informal workforce, in particular in the low-middle-income countries, whose employment is not captured by the tax system, it is proving to be challenging to sustain these finance methods.

The remaining healthcare gaps are broken down throughout the three thematic areas (life-course immunization, diabetes management and rare diseases) and encompass both the delivery as well as the finance needs shown in Figures 6 and 7. More details from the co-creation sessions are available publicly on the World Economic Forum website.¹³

FIGURE 6 | Top challenges in terms of health system finance in APAC¹⁴



FIGURE 7

Top challenges in terms of health system delivery in APAC¹⁵





Life-course immunization: the tools are at our fingertips, so why are more policies not activated?

Immunization can prevent up to three million deaths resulting from infectious diseases per year and is widely recognized as one of the most cost-effective solutions available.¹⁶ Yet life-course immunization uptake rates that extend beyond paediatrics and into later adulthood are shockingly low in APAC. For example, despite a World Health Organization (WHO) target of 75%, fewer than 20% of people over the age of 50 get influenza vaccines in Singapore.¹⁷ Other countries in South-East Asia have even lower rates. Awareness, which translates into vaccine confidence, is perhaps the greatest barrier to widespread adoption of life-course immunization, according to stakeholder discussions during the co-creation sessions. Most adults are not even aware of the importance of a continued immunization schedule. For example, in India, the National Vaccine Policy focuses almost exclusively on children.¹⁸ In Viet Nam, studies show that the number of adults getting booster shots is declining. The situation is made worse by misinformation. In Australia, stakeholders noted that media and social platforms are promoting the rapid spread of anti-vaccination sentiments.

FIGURE 8 Virtual poll of delivery gaps in life-course immunization in APAC



O When

vaccinations are not included as part of a compulsory schedule, expecting voluntary action will likely lead the majority of populations to think that life-course immunization is non-essential. Vaccine confidence issues are not limited to the public. Healthcare practitioners, many of whom are themselves unvaccinated, may be reluctant to properly educate patients about life-course immunization. This was discussed extensively during our co-creation session in Japan, where the rate of vaccine scepticism regarding safety among practitioners is 31%, much higher than the global average of 13%.¹⁹ The trend in APAC was partly due to the rate of substandard, or otherwise adverse event, product scenarios that occur from time to time. The sceptical attitude to vaccines in Japan stemmed from the early 1990s, with the measles, mumps and rubella (MMR) immunization that some suspected of leading to higher rates of aseptic meningitis. Historically, there have been issues about potential side effects, leading to the Japanese population's high level of caution.²⁰

To make matters worse, insufficient priority and finance are accorded to life-course immunization. Access to adequate vaccine supplies is also a problem in APAC. In Viet Nam, for example, subsidized immunization services are provided only at community health centres, and for only 1–3 days per month. For its largely rural population, the cost and inconvenience create a barrier to more widespread adoption of life-course immunization.

From a monetary perspective, taxation is a traditional financing method for life-course immunization. But with a limited and unstable tax base – in most of APAC, the tax-to-GDP ratio is below 15%, and the workforce is shrinking as populations age – taxation is an unstable source of funding.

Limited immunization coverage and funding

le income	Viet Nam	 Government covered only around 56% of routine immunization expenses in 2017 – the remainder was covered by donors Adult vaccines such as for influenza are often not subsidized, except during specific campaigns
Low-midd	India	 Only 36% of routine immunization expenditure in India is funded by the government The cost of adult vaccinations is largely borne by the individual (unlike FOC childhood vaccinations), which is unaffordable for many households
Jcome	Australia	 The cost of unsubsidized vaccines can be high and unaffordable for those not covered by the National Immunisation Program (NIP) Vaccination rates for funded adult vaccinations (50–70%) are much lower than they are for funded childhood vaccines (>90%), which highlights the challenge of adult vaccination
High ir	Japan	 While vaccine uptake for paediatric routine vaccines is close to 100%, the uptake for non-paediatric vaccines remains low (flu: ~50%, rubella: ~25%) NIP category B vaccination (flu and pneumococcal vaccines for elderly people) is not 100% funded and the vaccine coverage rate remains low

"When vaccinations are not included as part of a compulsory schedule, expecting voluntary action will likely lead the majority of populations to think that life-course immunization is non-essential," said Daniel Laverick, Head of SAP and IT Solutions at Zuellig Pharma. "A lack of vaccine confidence in APAC undermines the potential for achieving stronger coverage rates."²¹ COVID-19 provides an opportunity to accelerate the push for life-course immunization, as understanding and awareness of

the benefits of vaccinations have risen significantly. The pandemic has also updated our knowledge of vaccinations and can be used to improve other forms of immunization. Life-course immunization plays a significant role in the prevention of illnesses and is recognized as the most cost-effective means of doing so. Inaction will likely lead to dire health conditions and negative social and economic consequences, burdening already-stressed healthcare systems further.

Diabetes management: holding on to an ideological vision of pure prevention is understating the reality

There is little doubt that diabetes, particularly the type 2 variant, is a pressing issue for APAC governments. The disease is a leading cause of death in many countries, and has a disproportionately large impact on the health,

(66)

social and economic burdens of the region. Despite the rising trend towards self-care, which is core to UHC 2.0, UHC 1.0 designs for diabetes management are currently below par.

When vaccinations are not included as part of a compulsory schedule, expecting voluntary action will likely lead the majority of populations to think that life-course immunization is non-essential.

Daniel Laverick, Head of SAP and IT Solutions, Zuellig Pharma



Over 90% of tasks required to manage diabetes are performed at home by patients. In India, as revealed by the co-creation sessions – and supported by empirical evidence - individuals living with type 2 diabetes lack self-management education, which causes even greater harm through poor insulin injection technique and glucose control confusion. In Australia, while the National Diabetes Services Scheme (NDSS) provides resources to help patients manage their conditions, stakeholders are calling for more targeted support in the form of more holistic, tailored and funded packages offered throughout the country. Patients often cite their primary care physicians as a main source of diabetes education, yet such place-based care settings require better diabetes management training and improved coordination, with dietitians, for example.²² "We can look at examples like the Netherlands or Denmark in adopting an integrated

diabetes management approach in terms of a range of practitioners (generalists as well as specialists) working more directly with individuals to deliver the care," said Sofiat Akinola, Global Health Lead at the World Economic Forum. "The staggered care levels not only serve to reduce the complications of diabetes management, they further support a wider community-based ambition, such as by looking after the mental well-being of diabetics."

Another diabetes management gap revealed by stakeholder contributors to this report is the lack of diagnostics, including screening and early detection mechanisms. It is estimated that as many as 50% of diabetics in APAC remain undiagnosed, a figure that ranges from around 30% in Australia to as high as 70% in Viet Nam. Diagnoses that occur too late also lead to unnecessary misuse of finite intervention resources.



Limited diabetes management coverage and funding

lle income	Viet Nam	 On average, a low-income household in Viet Nam living with diabetes spends around 50% of its total income on diabetes Limited/late diagnostics and treatment increases chances of incapacitation among working adults
Low-middl	India	 Nearly half of diabetic patients who make use of outpatient diabetic care in a major government tertiary hospital incur OOP expenses for anti-diabetic medications The average patient's OOP expenditure on diabetes-related medicines was \$1 a month
Jcome	Australia	 Medicare is funded by a payroll tax, which means that a sustainable model needs to be adopted to factor in the demographic changes that arise with an ageing population The current healthcare funding model is unsustainable. There is a growing move towards models of care in service delivery, in which new approaches to funding promote seamless long-term care of people with diabetes
High ir	Japan	 Medical expenses for diabetes amounted to around \$11 billion as of 2018, and cardiovascular diseases (around \$18 billion), cerebrovascular diseases (around \$16.5 billion) and hypertensive diseases (around \$15.5 billion) Complications that arise from diabetes, such as dialysis (around \$14.6 billion), blindness and amputation of lower limbs, further contribute to higher medical expenses.

© Collaborating across insurers, care providers, tech firms and important public/ private-sector players can shine a light on the size of true intervention required, as well as better inform policy decisions. From a monetary perspective, there are additional challenges. Consequently, there is also limited participation from the informal workforce in social health insurance contribution (another traditional source of funding). There is a need to enrol and pay premiums manually, which the informal workforce is excluded from. Moreover, there is selective enrolment from such workers when they are sick.

From a financial standpoint, private insurance and external aid are again common methods of financing. However, private insurance is often inaccessible – specifically in developing countries, where only high-income households can afford it – and the penetration rate is less than 5%. The phasing out of foreign aid to countries such as Viet Nam and India exacerbates the problem.

"We need to better understand the current situation through improved data collection mechanisms,"

said Charles Bark, Founder of HiNounou, a connected healthcare and intelligent data platform company. "For example, collaborating across insurers, care providers, tech firms and important public/private-sector players can shine a light on the size of true intervention required, as well as better inform policy decisions."

While this report does not suggest that primary prevention of diabetes is unimportant, UHC 2.0 is in some sense about coming to grips with the realities of endemic diseases within populations. In other words, if we don't see self-care such as diet, exercise, self-monitoring with devices including meters, insulin pumps and continuous glucose monitoring devices,²³ and insulin dose adjustment as part of the interventions for diabetes management, we risk leaving an entire generational cohort (diagnosed and undiagnosed alike) without the necessary tools and finance to turn the tide.



Rare diseases: a classic UHC 1.0–2.0 paradoxical mindset that must be shifted

Perhaps a way to think about life-course immunization and diabetes management is the cost-effectiveness of addressing the size of unmet needs. But applying the same mentality to rare diseases (RDs) is a very UHC 1.0 thing to do; instead, in UHC 2.0, it involves the realization that, as our social and biological understanding of healthcare needs advances, the level of specificity in the disease states and required interventions will also become more targeted. Rare diseases, also referred to as orphan diseases, are characterized as having low prevalence (typically one in 2,000 people) but are chronically debilitating and severely life-threatening.²⁴ Because of the inherent gaps in UHC 1.0 models in APAC, rare disease patients may take up to seven years to be diagnosed correctly, and even then they endure a lifetime of unprioritized care support. Collectively, there are more than 200 million rare disease sufferers in the region.²⁵ The gap between need and action is unacceptable.

FIGURE 12 Virtual poll of delivery gaps of rare diseases in APAC



The legacy perspectives of rare diseases by policy-makers have essentially led to such illnesses being allocated lower levels of priority compared to others. India, which has one-third of the world's rare disease population, has no policy to address such diseases at all. While a rare disease committee has been formed in Viet Nam, the country still lacks a coherent national strategy that encompasses patient registries, clinical guidelines and a conducive regulatory environment for access to breakthrough treatments. The number of rare diseases studies published in APAC is three times lower than that in Europe. Policy inaction has a trickle-down effect on the practitioner community. In Australia, a survey of paediatricians found that only 40% had received adequate training in rare disease diagnostics and management. Countries in APAC generally lack tools such as genetic counselling, prenatal screening and advanced monitoring systems for newborns, which then affects diagnosis as well as population surveillance to properly inform intervention and policy. Rare diseases require coordinated and specialized care, which is proving difficult in the current lowresource APAC environment. For example, there is only one hospital that provides treatment for lysosomal storage disorders in Viet Nam.

FIGURE 13

Challenges in rare disease coverage and funding in Viet Nam, India, Australia and Japan

Limited rare disease coverage and funding

le income	Viet Nam	 More than 90% of rare disease global patients surveyed are not able to make a sustainable family living Public reimbursement of orphan drugs is limited in Viet Nam (e.g. 30% reimbursement rate for Myozyme)
Low-midd	India	 Funding allocation and support for Groups 1, 2 and 3 rare diseases for which approved treatments are available in India are limited and unsustainable Medical expenses of patients with rare diseases either exceed 3x their own income or mean they are not able to make a sustainable family living
ncome	Australia	 Only 16 medicines are included in the Life Saving Drugs Program (LSDP) listing, which treat 10 rare disease conditions In a recent survey, 82% of those with rare diseases reported having non-medical care needs arising from disability. Of these, 70% said they did not have those needs fully met under the country's National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS)
High i	Japan	 The scale of risk money raised to strengthen R&D is relatively small compared to Europe and the United States due to the higher investment risks associated with clinical development. It is important to both enhance and improve the fund-raising environment, as well as strengthen the R&D infrastructure within Japan

Rare disease treatments are often costly. Due to the low prevalence of the disease, funds are typically not allocated for the research and development of specific rare diseases, especially in APAC. Early detection is thus a more cost-effective solution, from both the individual and societal perspectives, with shortened diagnostic times and less work disturbances for parents and caregivers etc. "Alone, we can do so little, together we can do so much" is the proper approach to rare diseases and for UHC 2.0 in APAC. We should retain the ambition of leaving no one behind in bridging these gaps, including those who are highly marginalized because of their rare disease situation. Assigning a level of priority to react would be a pivotal step forward.

2 Solution set A: Sustainable healthcare delivery

Stratifying UHC 2.0 healthcare delivery innovations across infrastructure, capacity, consumerism and virtualization is the way forward.



The good news is that the gaps identified in Section 1 are all surmountable. In this section, we provide solutions within pathways and countries, rather than providing solutions on a disease-by-disease basis. The multidisciplinary lessons are insightful, especially as we pivot to a UHC 2.0 world of comorbidity management. Section 3 then explains how such delivery innovations can be financed, and we break down the solution clusters further by disease archetype in Appendix A.

The major themes covered in this section are infrastructure, capacity and consumerism. We mention each briefly, and then visualize how the solutions can be clustered and prioritized.

Infrastructure: less on the physical, more on the virtual

When UHC 1.0 was being designed, centralization of medical care activities was crucial. In UHC 2.0, however, much has shifted in the demographic and epidemiological make-up of societies. The UHC 2.0 infrastructure should focus on patient experience, effective allocation of precious resources and sustainable access to safe, equitable intervention. In short, UHC 2.0 infrastructure requires technology and data, and non-tech innovations, to reach a better way of doing things .

Government leaders in APAC should draw on the rapid expansion of network access in their countries to address the rising demand for healthcare needs.²⁶ Mobile devices, wearables and apps

can revolutionize disease awareness, diagnosis and management. Patient–patient, patient–doctor and doctor–doctor delivery flows all stand to be enhanced via the use of advanced platforms. On the flip side, there is a danger of a digital divide opening up, particularly among older people who may be less tech-literate.

While the potential of better data analytics in healthcare is well-known, it remains untapped. Data capture and quality rates must be rapidly expanded, and investment in such platforms should be raised so the insights gathered can inform cost-benefit decisions.^{27 28}

Capacity: beyond development, UHC 2.0 requires us to operate at our upper-limit thresholds

Building infrastructure and increasing capacity go hand in hand. For one thing, it is important to take advantage of rapid technological advancements and improvements in data-sharing platforms. As mentioned, data capture rates must be expanded, and quality must be improved.²⁹ Data maximization can be achieved through various methods, including multi-agency or centralized data repositories, creating an active surveillance system, or designing registries for each rare disease.

Similarly, upskilling general practitioners via increasing training and knowledge, including training stints between countries and regions, or even (more specifically) search optimization for rare disease identification, would benefit current healthcare models. GPs play a significant role in the influence of immunization uptake and the management of diseases in patients. Various countries within APAC have plans for GPs to undergo specialist training courses to increase their knowledge base about diabetes management and treatment. Likewise, training courses in Australia are being organized to provide GPs with awareness and knowledge about common types of rare diseases.

Another way to increase capacity is through public-private partnerships (PPPs). One form of PPPs includes partnerships between rare disease organizations, such as the Global Peak Advocacy Group (Rare Diseases International), the UN, the World Bank and Asian Development Bank. Other than partnerships, PPPs also include schemes and plans, such as social insurance, or legislative change, such as Rare Diseases Acts, and support for implementation of initiatives under acts and national plans for rare diseases. PPPs can be seen as methods to fast-track a move towards universal health coverage (UHC), as set out by the World Health Organization and the UN.³⁰

66

If properly managed, strong private-sector engagement can also pursue the transfer of knowledge to benefit employees in the government and healthcare structures, ensuring that workers share in the benefits of technological advancement.

World Economic Forum

Consumerism: if we do not change behaviours now, nothing much else will matter

Tracking

medication history and sharing blood pressure reports are fully possible in the modern age and will drastically increase the way people take responsibility within the systems. This solution is less about the "what" and more about the "how". Most governments understand the imperative to decentralize care models and distribute responsibility. Yet the policies, budgets and general moves towards consumer-driven healthcare remain more theory than practice. COVID-19, however, has boosted health literacy and capabilities, so there is cause for optimism.

"Even basic access to our own individual patient records is much more in line with consumer-style expectations," said Sophie McGough, General Manager of Diabetes Western Australia. "Tracking medication history and sharing blood pressure reports are fully possible in the modern age and will drastically increase the way people take responsibility within the systems."

Closer collaboration among APAC countries is key to approaching the delivery gaps by streamlining resources and enabling patients through wider care access. For instance, countries with insufficient healthcare infrastructure could send patients' test results to regional centres of excellence (COEs) for further diagnostics. Such initiatives, however, require hefty initial investments before countries can reap significant savings in the long run. One way to make this feasible is to employ medical tourism to attract non-Asian patients to offset finance needs in other areas.^{31 32} Countries in Asia can attract more visitors than other destinations due to the overall lower prices than in the Unites States or European countries. Most Asian countries have lower labour costs, with medical travellers or international customers saving up to 40–60% of their medical expenses.³³

For such initiatives to succeed, a series of carrot-and-stick policies will be required. Adequate information empowerment will be vital to influencing behaviours in the right way.³⁴ According to Harvard, providing more equitable access to longitudinal care information (which has by now been collected) and making smarter policy decisions based on population healthcare informatics will go a long way towards benefiting from, rather than reeling from, consumerism.³⁵

Visualization of the impact and ease of implication of solutions

In order to illustrate this, an indicative ranking based on an evaluation of the solution clusters has been identified. Solutions were graded based on their ease of implementation (E) and impact (I), on a rising score of 1–3, with 1 being the lowest score for the most difficult to implement and least impactful solution. The solutions were then plotted in the matrix below, with the respective priorities ranked based on these two aspects.

FIGURE 14 Strategic prioritization – ease of implementation/impact matrix



Infrastructure

Digital or tech-enabled services

- 1. Al-powered glucose monitoring/w chatbots
- 2. App-based vaccine coordination
- 3. Blockchain verification

- 4. Digital vaccine passport
- 5. Tech-enabled real-time monitoring; self-managed tools
- 6. Virtual symptom checker

Capacity

Delivery innovation

- 7. Third party partners for less developed areas
- 8. Clear points-of-contact for public
- 9. Early diagnostic testing measures
- 10. Expanded vaccine access points
- 11. Facilitate knowledge transfer from central to district hospital
- 12. Facilitate training transfer from central to district hospital
- 13. Increase knowledge training for practitioners
- 14. Patient journey mapping and collaboration
- 15. Proactive diabetes screenings
- 16. Reduce wastage in diagnosis of rare diseases
- 17. Remote GP care and coordination
- 18. Search optimization for rare disease identification
- 19. Simplify testing and results receipt
- 20. Supply-chain waste reduction
- 21. Supply-chain streamlining
- 22. Telemedicine or self-management support
- 23. Upskill GPs for diabetes care

Data maximization

- 24. Active surveillance system
- 25. Chart and identify disproportionate allocation to rare diseases
- 26. Collect and aggregate data for a value story
- 27. Data-backed health technology assessments (HTA)
- 28. Enable data-sharing among stakeholders
- 29. Use international registries to create national one

- 30. Multi-agency or centralized data repository
- 31. Quantify the impact of failed treatment
- 32. Registry for each rare disease
- 33. Unified, integrated customer relationship management (CRM) for registered patients

Public-private partnerships synergy

- 34. Capture ROI from R&D models
- 35. Create and implement treatment protocols
- 36. Crowdfunding and gamification platforms for financing
- 37. Ease restrictions on commercialization
- 38. Expand insurance coverage to telemedicine
- 39. Funding partnerships
- 40. Health insurance and private insurance coverage
- 41. Incentives for employers to provide programmes
- 42. Join consortiums and alliances for treatment
- 43. Private insurers in the screening phase
- 44. Private investors to fund initiatives
- 45. Private programmes and reimbursement for end-to-end finance
- 46. Public health insurance coverage
- 47. Regional COEs to drive research and map resources
- 48. Self-funded instalment plan
- 49. Shared value model
- 50. Social impact bonds
- 51. Standardized framework for grouping of diseases
- 52. Tax exemption for employers with private insurance
- 53. Tax incentives

Consumerism

Carrot-and-stick policies

- 54. Cash-based or insurance-based incentives
- 55. Government subsidies for digital tools
- 56. Integrate vaccinations into routine healthcare
- 57. Non-compliance penalties
- 58. Pay for performance screening incentives
- 59. Performance-based discounts on monitoring apps
- 60. Sugar tax

Consumer perception

- 61. Celebrity endorsements.
- 62. Comprehensive educational outreach
- 63. Consolidated information platform
- 64. Draft a consumer rare disease compendium document.

- 65. General practitioners as promoters
- 66. Increase study of rare diseases in medical school curriculum.
- 67. Influencers and ambassador-based outreach.
- 68. Map information touch points
- 69. Negate diabetes in communications
- 70. Patient advocacy groups and support groups.
- 71. Patient groups and online communities for unity.
- 72. Practitioners directing patients to global programmes.
- 73. Raise minority patient voices
- 74. Rally for legislation change to increase priority.
- 75. Re-evaluate medical advertising guidelines.
- 76. Segmentation, targeting and positioning (STP).
- 77. Social media promotions.
- 78. Strengthen specialist networks

3 Solution set **B:** Sustainable healthcare financing

UHC 2.0 healthcare delivery concepts require creative financing mechanisms, taking public-private partnership opportunities to new levels.



It is all well and good to propose a set of healthcare delivery innovations, as was done in Section 2. Theoretically, there are many potential solutions for improving our healthcare system, but financing these interventions is another matter. In this section, we explore sustainable finance options for specific disease areas. Of course, there are lessons to be shared throughout disease archetypes too.

Life-course immunization: the UHC 2.0 intervention solution that pays for itself

As stakeholder contributors to this report said, we know that governments want to shift the emphasis towards prevention. However, only 10% of most government healthcare budgets are allocated to prevention activities.³⁶ Life-course immunization, for example, is a preventive approach that will pay for itself and provides both direct and indirect benefits.

In the short term, life-course immunization will prevent further illness arising later; this is already a major source of cost savings and is a core strategy in emerging from the COVID-19 pandemic. It also reduces the strain of ongoing illnesses, including endemic infectious diseases. If APAC countries can move to a more smartly financed life-course immunization programme, even the surveillance data gathered will allow for more long-term contracting models and subpopulation targeting.

Another financing model for life-course immunization programmes that APAC governments could consider is increased collaboration with the private sector. Corporate taxes that are reinvested in immunization activities, tax benefits for individuals who opt for life-course immunization, and even public-private matching or donation channels, all stand to raise the level of vaccine access. Indeed, some private insurers have expressed an interest in understanding how life-course immunization packages can be designed and implemented.

FIGURE 15 Case study: Viet Nam

The government collaborated with the private sector to offer HPV vaccines at a discount in certain provinces to encourage greater uptake volume. Health workers were provided with the information and skills needed for the HPV vaccination programme, and these skills proved useful for their other, routine activities.

Outcome:

High vaccine acceptability within communities was achieved through targeted messages developed from formative research conducted prior to vaccine implementation.

Feasibility	Cost	Coverage	Acceptability
The HPV vaccine programme applied a training-of-trainers model with mixed groups of participants	The total economic cost per dose of delivering HPV vaccine was \$2.08 in the school-based strategy and \$1.92 in the health centre-based strategy (in US\$ 2009)	6,358 of 7,016 eligible girls were vaccinated with three doses of HPV vaccine	High vaccine coverage indicated that acceptability of the vaccine was high

In Hanoi,³⁷ the healthcare insurance law is being reformed to drive stronger consolidation of publicand private-sector coverage capabilities. Such initiatives can be better studied through a UHC 2.0 lens, then rolled out to more infectious disease areas and APAC countries.

Finally, capital market surpluses are available to finance life-course immunization needs. Bonds, which by their nature promote ecosystem collaboration and are a good vehicle to drive a rise in preventive healthcare (i.e. cost savings), can be generated over the longer term and are a very hot topic. Social impact bonds (SIBs), for example, are already being piloted by the International Finance Facility for Immunisation to fund the GAVI alliance.³⁸ Interest in SIBs has soared as a result of growing emphasis on more sustainable, ethical investments from governments, NGOs and the private sector alike.³⁹ Potential projects are not limited to physical vaccination, but could be used to fund better educational campaigns too.

Diabetes management: a virtuous prevention-treatment cycle that makes for a productive investment

Although this report focuses more on those predisposed to diabetes or already diagnosed with it, prevention still has a significant role. Certainly, increased investment in routine screening, primary care and healthcare literacy will provide benefits, even if the number of those with the disease rises sharply. Co-creation session stakeholders expressed an interest in diabetic management financing through more extensive pooling of corporate philanthropic efforts (which are already required in some countries, such as India) as well as SIBs (being piloted for diabetes needs in Japan⁴⁰).

FIGURE 16 | Social impact bonds framework



company, offers comprehensive digital wellness programmes, using rewards points and wearable trackers as motivators to adopt healthy lifestyles.

Once preventive behaviours take root, financial capacity can be shifted towards more appropriate treatment patterns, such as adherence to insulin intake and glucose monitoring. Patients could see reduced subscription fees for diabetic management-related apps if they are able to maintain their HbA1C at consistent levels, for example. Governments could roll out a sandbox platform to encourage experimentation with novel diabetic management tools: Germany, for example, offers digital solution providers one-year's approval and reimbursement to prove themselves.

FIGURE 18 Encouraging employers to step up and provide more holistic diabetes management programmes

More proactive screening – benefits employers through better identification and management of the condition

✓ Minimizes time spent away from work

Case study 1

IBM provided a financial reward to diabetic employees who were able to maintain their treatment regimen over a 12-month period

Case study 2

In Australia, employers tend to offer cash gifts closely associated with wellness expectations

Earlier identification of illness, better management support and an upgraded level of accountability all round are tenets of UHC 2.0 that very much apply to the financing of the DM space.

Rare diseases: investment in a few spells a positive return for the masses

Rare disease is perhaps the most difficult category for APAC governments to understand from a financial contribution perspective. The niche disease patterns, coupled with very expensive courses of treatment, appear an unattractive venture on the surface. However, the hidden ongoing costs of lack of rare disease priority and proper intervention cause even greater harm.

One finance option being explored for rare disease is the adoption of instalment-style schemes that involve a number of stakeholders throughout the public- and private-sector value chain. Regional banks such as Singapore's DBS have developed dedicated rare diseases units to study how finance mechanisms can work, and are willing to look at schemes with pay-outs over the longer-term, and where the rates of return are more or less fixed. These funds could be used to finance existing schemes, such as the Rare Disease Fund (RDF) in Singapore.⁴¹



The Rare Disease Fund (RDF) was established in Singapore in July 2019 to provide long-term financial support to patients with rare genetic diseases who require high-cost treatments.

It is a multistakeholder charity fund that combines community donations with three-for-one government matching, intending to be a last line of support after government subsidies, insurance and other financial assistance.

Outcome:

Approach				Results		
Criteria were defined for medicines eligible for inclusion in the RDF ar to improve consistency and transparency of decision-making	for A voluntary RDF Committee was formed to determine the amount cy of financial support for each eligible patient on a case-by-case basis		Since it v in 2019, applied f successf strict crit	was established four cases or the funding fully according to eria	Singapore citizens who require RDF medicines can apply for financial assistance and will be subject to review of their clinical and financial eligibility annually	
Question: What can be done to this charity fund to be	expand expanc	the funding (donations) to led to cover more rare dis	allow eases?			
FIGURE 20	There is for finan the APE is alread session Case s	also the possibility of a pan-reg cing rare disease schemes. For C Rare Disease Network and A ly in place. The suggestion from stakeholders is to standardize t	yional model example, ction Plan ⁴² co-creation he rare	disease matrix to de focusing on their res establishing a more Such a vision would sharing resources a	efine the types of illnesses by spective treatment needs, and consistent package of care. I include legal frameworks for nd data among countries.	
	The Canadian Drug Insurance Pooling Co (CDIPC), established in 2012, is a not-for- corporation whose mission is to help mair sustainable drug coverage for Canadians their employers. CDIPC pools claims affect recurring high-cost drugs among claimant belong to fully insured drug plans from Ca life and health insurance companies. As shown above in the example of the Ca Drug Insurance Pooling Corporation (CDIF we see that crowdfunding is another legitin financing channel and is already being use three-for-one matching scheme in relation diseases by the Singapore government, w is considering a potential pilot scheme. In discussions are oriented towards connect dots between SIBs and green energy sin t alternative sources to reinvest in rare disea In addition, tax incentives and sin taxes ca serve as an alternative source of funds for		Corporation or-profit aintain ns and fected by ants who Canadian	By sharing the insure high- and very high-o employers have fully the member compar- the insurance progra In 2019, the CDIPC framework provided Canadians whose ar \$10,000, an increase	ed cost of reimbursing repeating cost drugs of employees whose insured drug coverage plans, nies help maintain the viability of mmes they belong to. high-cost drug sharing coverage to 27,000 nnual drug costs exceed e of 17% from 2018.	
			Canadian DIPC), ⁴³ gitimate used in a on to rare , while India In Viet Nam, ecting the n taxes as sease needs. can for	financing of rare dis be imposed on the such as sugar and t to have negative im health. However, it is purely on sin taxes t funding is not susta tobacco tax for imm example, revenue for on high rates of smo what the taxes discr that sin-tax funding sources rather than	ease needs. Sin taxes can consumption of goods tobacco, which are known pacts on the population's s worth noting that relying from a specific good for inable. Taking dedicated nunization in Taiwan as an or tobacco tax depends oking – which ironically is ourage. ⁴⁴ This highlights should come from multiple a single source.	

4 The path forward

How to get engaged – government, corporate and citizen roles across the UHC 2.0 ecosystem.



In this report, we have outlined UHC 2.0 delivery and financing solutions that span a targeted set of disease pathways and exposed the gaps in UHC 1.0. Further details at country level, both developed and developing, are provided in Appendix A. In Section 4, we frame the policy calls-to-action that can animate the solutions. We look forward to the opportunity to discuss this further.

FIGURE 21 | Policy action checklist

Operating model	Government-led policy actions	Corporate-led policy actions	Public-led policy actions
Life-course immunization	 Adopt behavioural sciences to reposition LCI as a social norm Increase immunization access points and set up national surveillance databases Draw on influencers to share their stories and encourage better LCI uptake rates 	 Work with practitioners to advocate vaccination during pre-employment checks Mandate certain vaccinations for continued employment Participate with pharma companies during seasonal campaigns to raise awareness 	 Create a promotional platform on social media to increase awareness of LCI Use celebrity endorsements in dialects to encourage the uptake of LCI Endorse mobile vaccination teams to bring facilities closer to citizens
Diabetes management	 Roll out wider-scale screening efforts, including through employers Continue with, but also evolve, the use of "sin taxes" to influence behaviour Subsidize technologies, both in medical interventions and digital tooling 	 Conduct more regular screenings at employment sites Collaborate with community healthcare centres to identify high-risk individuals Use more digital means to spread information and provide teleconsultations 	 Promote a culture of grassroots organization to support the DM cause Emphasize holistic self-management for disease control, including mental well-being Encourage more proactive screening to catch undiagnosed cases early
Rare diseases	 Provide the same level of policy priority for RD as for other leading disease themes Drive greater education about RD at the primary care and neonatal levels Increase data efforts through genetic counselling and cross-border registries 	 Integrate data across public and private sectors for a comprehensive repository Collaborate with specialist practitioners to offer genetic counselling services Pilot the use of instalment plans to relieve the financial burden on individuals 	 Build bespoke patient advocacy groups, including across the APAC region Consider techniques such as crowdfunding to spread the resourcing load Localize annual celebration days on specific RDs to create a buzz and increase awareness, and channel funding to specific groups

Appendix A: Country snapshots

Australia

FIGURE 22

Australia's healthcare system⁴⁵

FIGURE 23 | Demographics: Australia

Year	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
Population (m) ⁴⁶	24.0	24.4	24.8	25.2	25.6	25.7	25.8
Population growth (%) ⁴⁷	1.40%	1.60%	1.70%	1.50%	1.50%	1.18%	1.13%
Population aged 65 and above (% of total) ⁴⁸	14.9	15.1	15.4	15.7	15.9	16.2	16.5
Life expectancy49	82.70	82.86	83.03	83.20	83.35	83.50	83.64

How the system is designed

The Morrison government is committed to tackling diabetes and is reportedly investing AUD\$2.8 million (around \$2 million) in 2019 to help prevent and treat diabetes-related complications.⁵⁰ There are also several programmes and initiatives put in place to

support the treatment and management of rare diseases⁵¹ (such as the Life Saving Drugs Program (LSDP), which funds 14 different medicines for nine very rare diseases).

Financing

Challenges in supporting the current tax policy

The current tax policy is proving to be an unsustainable source of funding. Australia has a limited tax base, with a tax-to-GDP ratio of 28.7% in 2018, much lower than the OECD average of 33.9%. It also has an unsustainable tax base, with a shrinking stable workforce due to its ageing population, and more than 26% of the population working as contractors or self-employed, positions that contribute less in taxes.

Challenges in supporting the social health insurance system

Insufficient aged care funding is another problem. The Morrison government plans to spend AUD\$17.7 billion (around \$13 billion)

Life-course immunization

Delivery

Low awareness and limited vaccine confidence

In 2020, against the backdrop of COVID-19, there was a record surge of 18 million flu vaccine shipments to Australia, up from 13.2 million in 2019, along with an increase in administered doses, from 4.5 million to 7.3 million. However, in 2021, there has been an almost 40% decline in flu vaccination uptake in Queensland, possibly because of complacency arising from a drop in flu cases because of social distancing measures. More can be done to reduce potential misconceptions among the public. Research published in 2020 highlighted over four years on aged care. While leading advocates recognize this as a substantial investment, they recommend that more funding is needed to transform the aged-care system properly. In addition, part of the taxation is used to fund private insurance rebates, instead of expanding coverage for the underprivileged.

Lack of affordability of private insurance

Some 71% of people without private health insurance reported that the primary reason for this was because premiums were too expensive.⁵² Furthermore, price sensitivity research shows that private insurance may become unaffordable for up to one in five current hospital policyholders within the next one to two years.

widespread misconceptions regarding eligibility for free vaccines and concerns about effectiveness among the Indigenous population – the average coverage for this group was just 30% that year.

Lack of surveillance and data collection

A 2018 study by the National Centre for Immunisation Research and Surveillance (NCIRS) notes an overall 14% error rate in the Australian Immunisation Register (AIR), which records all vaccinations given in Australia. Much of this is because of incorrect transfer of information from practice management software to AIR, as well as duplicate record-keeping.

Limited accessibility of vaccination

Australia has set up the National Immunisation Programme (NIP), which provides free vaccinations to eligible people. However, a commonly cited barrier is an inconvenient vaccination pathway, where vaccinations centres are often difficult or inconvenient to access.

Recommendations

These challenges could be overcome in various ways, including:

 Encouraging and incentivizing general practitioners (GPs) to promote vaccinations
 This would help raise awareness of vaccinations on the part of patients, and GPs could receive incentives for their efforts. Australia currently fares well in encouraging childhood vaccinations, but more can be done to increase adult rates.

 GPs promoting vaccinations would be likely to help ease patients' concerns about them

 as studies have shown that doctor-patient communication plays a crucial role in promoting positive attitudes about immunization.

2. Capturing vaccination information in a "digital passport"

The Australian Immunisation Register (AIR) records all vaccinations given to the population. The data from these records could be used to create individual "digital vaccine passports", raising the standard of surveillance and data collection in Australia.

Diabetes

Delivery

Improvements in the delivery model required

The annual cycle of care (ACC) is a checklist used by GPs to review diabetics management and the general health of those diagnosed. In a 2018 study, ACC completion rates ranged from 0.9% (Indigenous population) to 37% over a 12–18-month period. Incomplete checks result in late detection of potential complications and potentially delay the course of treatment.

Complexity and inaccessibility of self-management

Diabetes self-management is highly complex. Patients surveyed in a 2019 study cited their main type 2 diabetes education source as their GP and dietician, who provided limited advice on ways to manage their diet through healthy meal planning and snack guidance. Some 70% of such patients believe that taking insulin is an indication that their conditions are worsening. The general sentiment surrounding injecting insulin is reluctance, and there are psychological and practical concerns. 3. Employing blockchain technology for the storage of immunization documents Blockchain technology can store vaccination records securely. The essential advantage of blockchain is that a decentralized ledger would be anonymous, immutable and transparent, making it easier to manage data-sharing among different entities. After putting in place pilot programmes, governments can then devise a national roadmap to provide guidance and techniques for building the necessary capabilities for these blockchain applications to be implemented.

Financing

Australia may be facing multiple challenges in financing its life-course immunization effort, but there are solutions available:

1. Easing some restrictions for commercialization by commoditizing vaccines

Australia can allow consumers to shop for vaccines online by putting in place regulatory clearance, potentially allowing for some profit margin to be created in private-sector sales, to be redeployed towards creating funding capacity for life-course immunization efforts.

2. Sharing the burden of cost among stakeholders

The cost could be shared among different stakeholders – consumers, private-sector stakeholders (such as travel insurers, health insurers) and the government.

Lack of diagnostics

There remains a lack of diagnostics, with at least three in 10 adults with diabetes in Australia still undiagnosed.

Recommendations

These challenges could be overcome in various ways, including:

1. Creating a patient-centred primary care collaborative (PCPCC)

Healthcare providers (HCPs) could refer their patients to other HCPs (which may possess deeper expertise) for more specific aspects of treatment. To reduce travel time to clinics, digital and telehealth solutions could also be implemented. A specialized diabetes telemedicine system could be devised and built into this service, which would ideally offer a userfriendly interface that advises patients of their required dosage of medication, as well as diet and lifestyle advice. It is also important for HCPs to check their patients' mental and physical well-being. Check-up and testing processes could also be simplified by allowing for results to be released online through a secure system.

2. Implementing data-collection mechanisms that provide useful data points to the right target audience

It would also be worthwhile exploring ways to connect important data points from stakeholders within the patient's healthcare value chain to derive purposeful analytics for the end user. There are numerous sources of diabetes treatment guidance – to combat this, patients should be encouraged to use a single source of information. However, it could be argued that it is the government's duty of care to ensure that people are being guided towards the right information sources. Australia's National Diabetes Services Scheme (NDSS) hosts a centralized customer relationship

Rare diseases

Delivery

Limited capacity and diagnostic capabilities

A 2016 study found that the healthcare needs of people living with rare diseases may fail to be met. A lack of screening tests and health professionals' limited knowledge of diagnosing rare diseases could lead to diagnostic delays of seven years or more. A 2017 study led by the Australian Paediatric Surveillance Unit uncovered a lack of clinical guidelines, treatment options and ability to access drugs available overseas but not licensed in Australia.

Low level of priority

Australia needs a national rare diseases registry alliance to replace the fragmented network used currently, which makes it difficult to research and track rare diseases efficiently. That said, while the Australian government has committed various programmes to increase funding, more can be done to use the rare disease registries for translational research to improve care. Physicians' awareness of rare diseases could be improved as well – only 40% of Australian paediatricians said rare diseases were adequately covered in their medical education in a 2017 survey.

Low level of access to treatments

Drugs and treatments specifically targeted at rare diseases are often expensive – if they are even available. Pharmaceutical companies cite their reluctance to invest in the development and clinical trials of these drugs because of the relatively small market. The Life Saving Drugs Program (LSDP) pays for specific essential medications to treat patients with rare diseases. However, the criteria for LSDP funding are highly ambiguous: they require proof that the drug will extend a patient's lifespan substantially. management (CRM) database that contains all details of registered diabetes patients. It would be beneficial to use it as a starting point with a view to integrating this with the national health system.

Financing

Australia may be facing multiple challenges in financing its healthcare sector in relation to diabetes, but there are solutions available, including:

1. Using employer-led incentives

Employers can play a part in helping employees who are diagnosed with the condition to keep healthy and feel well-supported by providing employee perks. Employers may wish to incentivize their employees with cash or health and wellness gifts, such as gym passes or health-food store benefits.

Recommendations

These challenges could be overcome in various ways, including:

1. Implementing early diagnosis testing measures, offering mental health support, and using data to acquire more knowledge Delayed diagnosis means treatment also comes later, but for many rare diseases, there are cost and societal benefits in starting as soon as possible. It is also important to establish steps for generic counselling with patients and their families once a positive diagnosis is confirmed. Healthcare professionals and midwives can encourage parents to have their newborns tested. Recognizing the importance of offering mental health support to diagnosed patients and their families is another positive step; following the diagnosis of a rare disease, many patients would benefit from having peer support and access to mental health support services. Lastly, while there is a plentiful amount of data available, there need to be improvements in how it is used. Employing tools such as AI and blockchain can help to aggregate data, enabling experts to perform analytics and derive useful insights.

2. Improving the mechanism for care coordination

Rare diseases could be given higher priority by improving care coordination mechanisms for patients. There is no single source of end-toend guidance or support for patients with rare diseases. Patients must visit various specialists for their conditions, and information is not automatically shared among specialists. Much of patients' time is spent trying to find the right platforms or being rerouted to the right stakeholder. Telehealth or virtual consultations could bring them greater convenience.

3. Skills training for GPs and creation of a virtual symptom checker

There are few specialists around the world for each rare disease; consolidating resources and creating an international registry to benefit patients should be considered. It may also be beneficial to train GPs by providing them with some guidance on diagnosis and next steps for managing patients with rare diseases.

Financing

Australia may be facing multiple challenges in the financing of its healthcare sector for rare diseases, but there are solutions available:

Policy action checklist

Government-led policies

Life-course immunization

- Relevant media agencies that have been engaged by government stakeholders should be cognizant of vaccine hesitancy, and drive the messaging
 - Seeing key opinion leaders (KOLs) (such as celebrities and athletes) sharing their narratives on their personal vaccination journeys – that they are doing this not only to be protect themselves, but to keep their families safe
- Investing resources to develop better digital platforms using blockchain technology for storage of data to be accessible by the Australian population (data could potentially come from the Australian Immunisation Register [AIR])

Diabetes management

- Public and private healthcare practitioners can work together to better manage the course of treatment for diabetes in their patients
- Using "MyDesmond", a support system within Australia's National Diabetes Services Scheme (NDSS), and looking to integrate this within the national health system

Rare diseases

- Early diagnosis testing measures to be implemented, along with steps for generic counselling with the patients and their families once a positive diagnosis is confirmed.
- Collaboration with disease experts, researchers, genetic counsellors and patient advocates to build centres of excellence
- Working with specialists around the world for each rare disease to consolidate resources and create an international registry to benefit rare disease communities around the globe

- Organizing a fundraising campaign with the support of patient advocacy groups
 With social distancing measures in place, these campaigns could be broadcast on national television to raise funds for and awareness of the rare disease.
- 2. Putting in place a self-funded instalment plan This could help alleviate treatment costs for patients with rare diseases. An example is Rare Diseases Hong Kong, which has partnered with a non-profit pharmacy to introduce an easy payment mechanism.
- Training courses can be organized to provide GPs with awareness and knowledge of common types of rare diseases

Corporate-led initiatives

Life-course immunization

- GPs could actively advocate vaccinations for patients in conjunction with the GP vertical, an integrated training approach, to raise vaccine awareness
- Pharmaceutical companies could create campaigns and advertisements specifically directed at consumers to inform them of the different vaccines available to them, identifying suitable candidates and highlighting the benefits of vaccines
- Enabling customers to shop for vaccines online, allowing for some profit to be earned in the private sector and redeployed towards creating funding capacity

Diabetes management

- A user-friendly specialized diabetes telemedicine system could be devised and built to increase convenience for patients
- Testing process could be simplified by allowing results to be released online through a secure system, increasing efficiency and patient convenience
- Employers could play a part in helping employees diagnosed with diabetes to maintain health and feel wellsupported, through providing perks

Rare diseases

 HCPs could play a more active role in advocating the importance of holistic healthcare (both mental and physical health), offering patients support and resources they can benefit from

- Analytics tools and AI could help reveal important insights that may not have been picked up by humans to improve knowledge and understand more about rare diseases
- Collaboration between private and public hospitals could consolidate medical records in one place to raise efficiency and reduce confusion among patients

Citizen-led initiatives

Life-course immunization

 Create a promotional platform on social media to increase awareness of life-course immunization

Diabetes management

 Collaboration with medical professionals to launch patient support programmes, including mental health support and guidance on simple self-management

Rare diseases

- Patient advocacy groups could provide peer support and access to support services for patients suffering from a rare disease
- Patient advocacy groups dedicated to a rare disease could collectively organize fundraising campaigns, simultaneously increasing funds and awareness
- Self-funded instalment plans could be created to help alleviate the cost burden for patients with rare diseases

	Ministry of Health & Family Welfare	
	Department of Health & Family Welfare Health Research	Ministry of AYUSH (Ayurveda Yoga Unani Siddha h Homeopathy)
Directorate General Health Services (technical advice, implementation of health programmes, functioning of central government hospitals, coordination with states)	 Disease Control Blindness Control Cancer Control Programme Mental Health Division National Programme for Prevention and Control of Cancer, Diabetes, Cardiovascular Disease 	Indian Council of Medical Research Health Technology Assessment
Central Drugs Standard Control Organization	 and Stroke National Programme for Prevention and Control of Deafness National Vector-Borne Disease Control Programme National Programme for Healthcare of the Elderly Revised National Tuberculosis 	Clinical Establishment (Registration and Regulation) Act Companies Act
Central Bureau of Health Intelligence	Control Programme - Bureau of Planning - Central Design Bureau	Consumer Protection Act
	Drugs Food Quality Control Division National Health Mission (NHM) – NHM Finance – NHM Policy & Planning – National Urban Health Mission	PC NPDT Act National Pharmaceutical Pricing Authority Ministry of Chemicals and Fertilizers
→ National Health Authority	e-Health and Telemedicine Medical Education	Councils Medical Council of India Dental Council of India Pharmacy Council of India
Food Safety	Immunization – Intensified Mission – Indradhanush – Pulse Polio Programme	Indian Nursing Council
& Standards Authority of India	Prime Minister Swasthya Suraksha Yojana	Insurance Regulatory and
	- Miscellaneous	Development Authority Ministry of Finance
	Health insurance	$\leftarrow \longrightarrow$ \downarrow

FIGURE 25 | Demographics: India

Year	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
Population (m)⁵⁴	1,310	1,320	1,340	1,350	1,370	1,380	1,390
Population growth (%)⁵⁵	_	0.76	1.52	0.75	1.48	0.73	0.72
Population aged 65 and above (% of total) ⁵⁶	5.62	5.79	5.98	6.18	6.38	6.60	6.69
Life expectancy57	68.61	68.90	69.71	69.42	69.66	69.73	69.96

How the system is designed

A report on India's eight most urbanized cities⁵⁸ – Ahmedabad, Bengaluru, Chennai, Delhi-NCR, Hyderabad, Kolkata, Mumbai Metropolitan Region (MMR) and Pune – ranked them according to health infrastructure (such as number of

Financing situation

The current tax policy is proving to be an unsustainable source of finance. The taxable workforce has shrunk and continues to shrink due to an ageing population, coupled with a large informal workforce, which is not captured by the tax system, of around 80%.

Challenges in supporting the social health insurance system

India's social health insurance (SHI)⁵⁹ pools both the health risks of the people on one hand, and the contributions of individuals, households, enterprises and the government on the other, and is a form of financing and way to manage healthcare based on risk-pooling. It serves to protect people against financial and health burdens and is a relatively fair method of healthcare financing. However, there is limited participation from members of the informal workforce, who selectively enrol only when they are sick and generally struggle to enrol and pay premiums manually. The financial burden on the

Life-course immunization

Delivery

Low awareness and limited vaccine confidence

Currently, there is limited focus on adult vaccination in India, with the National Vaccine Policy focusing more on immunization for children. Over two-thirds of the adult population in India are not aware of booster shot requirements and adult vaccination, perceiving them to be hospital beds per 1,000 people). Pune was the most equipped city in India, with 3.5 beds per 1,000 people, compared to the national average of 1.4. Delhi-NCR was ranked last.

national health system has risen in recent decades, with spiralling health costs aggravated by the increasing burden of new and emerging diseases and the rising demand for healthcare.

Lack of affordability of private insurance

Currently, only high-income households (less than 3% of the population) can afford private insurance in India. This reduces the affordability of healthcare in India.

Phasing out of external aid

In 2021, India is reportedly phasing out funding from Gavi, a vaccine alliance that collaborates with numerous global donors who contribute to the programme. Gavi has provided large amounts of support in India, with more than \$900 million in approvals between 2001 and 2023. The termination would result in India facing more challenges in financing its healthcare resources.

just for children. Vaccine confidence levels are low, with less than 5% of healthcare workers receiving influenza vaccinations due to scepticism about its usefulness and fear of side effects.

Limited accessibility of vaccination

Vaccines are not readily available in India, stemming from logistical difficulties (such as regular electricity blackouts and storage challenges). The lack of access points is particularly acute in rural areas, where vaccines are not delivered because of a lack of healthcare facilities.

Lack of surveillance and data collection

Data collection is also limited in India (for instance, there is a lack of quality data on disease burden and limited epidemiological studies); this hinders the assessment of vaccine importance and impact. There is also a lack of data on vaccine efficacy, meaning that decision-makers lack evidence on the safety and effectiveness of vaccines in the population.

Recommendations

These challenges could be overcome in various ways, including:

- 1. **Providing incentives for vaccinations** Direct benefit transfers (such as cash incentives) or insurance-linked incentives (such as collaborations with insurers to link benefits on earmarked insurance premiums tied to individuals' vaccination status) could be provided to increase vaccination uptake.
- 2. Enhancing the ecosystem of vaccinators The ecosystem of vaccinators could also be enhanced, with more dedicated adult immunization centres and points-of-contact for the public to increase accessibility.

3. Setting up vaccine registries and tracking data

Patients' birth and immunization data could be reflected in the same digital health record, providing physicians with a more comprehensive overview and helping to tackle the lack of data collection. Introducing data-tracking could also provide insights that may lead to more effective policy decision-making.

Financing

India may face multiple challenges in financing its healthcare sector for life-course immunization, but there are solutions available:

1. Consolidation of corporate social responsibility (CSR) funds

Corporates are required to allocate a percentage of their revenues towards CSR, with the funds being pooled together and earmarked for building and supporting the necessary infrastructure and capabilities required to facilitate adult vaccinations, such as training medical personnel to administer the vaccine, and procurement, storage and promotional activities to encourage adult vaccination. Gavi donors include members of the private sector (such as TikTok, Mastercard and Unilever) and foundations (such as The Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation) as well as various countries. However, relying purely on Gavi funding is unsustainable. It would be ideal to encourage self-reliance at a national level instead.

2. Encouraging partnerships between insurers and employers

An employer-led healthcare initiative carried out in partnership with insurers could help employees cover the cost of vaccinations, increasing affordability. Flu vaccinations are known to be a simple and cost-effective way to keep employees healthy and productive at work, making it a win-win solution.

Diabetes

Delivery

Limited diagnostic capabilities

The largest issue is the low awareness and limited priority given to early detection: Around half of people with diabetes are undiagnosed, with only around 40% of the Indian population even aware of the disease. Cost-effective tools are also lacking, with many primary care facilities, especially in rural areas, being without diagnosis capacity.

Need for improvement of the delivery model

In India, the quality of diabetes care varies largely depending on awareness levels and expertise available among care providers. This has led to half of all patients having poor HbA1c control. Another problem prevalent in India is barriers to accessing treatment. Most patients miss appointments due to high transport costs and long waits in queues resulting from health facility congestion.

Lack of support for self-management

Diabetic patients spend much of their time selfmanaging their ailments. The lack of support for self-management has led to many issues, with patients uncertain of injection methods or tools and many exhibiting poor plasma glucose control. India also faces a problem of limited accessibility – only 44% of New Delhi pharmacies carry human insulin, far lower than the WHO availability target of 80%.

Recommendations

These challenges could be overcome in various ways, including:

 Employing digital platforms for information sharing and teleconsultation India's increasing use of Al and cloud technology can bring better diabetes care to patients, allowing them to access electronic health records immediately, thus keeping them clearly informed of the status of their condition.

2. Government-led promotion of an open innovation concept

Likewise, it would be meaningful for government health bodies to advocate an open innovation concept, which leans towards an integrated point-of-care system. This would provide a holistic approach to the whole customer journey – pre-visit, in-clinic and post-visit. A strong patient journey mapping structure can help ensure better communication between patients and healthcare professionals, providing them with an improved experience and greater clarity of their healthcare regimen.

3. Creating a more organized treatment protocol The care delivery model can also be evolved by creating a more organized treatment protocol, whereby government and patient advocacy or community groups can collaborate with medical professionals to help with the implementation of treatment protocols.

Financing

India may be facing multiple challenges in financing its healthcare sector for diabetes management, but there are solutions available:

Rare diseases

Delivery

Low awareness and limited vaccine confidence Rare diseases are generally given low priority. There are conflicting priorities at the public health level due to larger numbers in other disease areas and extremely limited information available on rare diseases, with over 95% of the population unaware of them.

Lack of capacity and diagnostic capabilities

There are also limited screening resources for rare diseases. It is economically challenging to set up a lab for rare disease diagnosis because of high set-up costs. The high unit cost per test adds to the problem. In addition, there are only 70–80 trained geneticists in the country, with around 80% of practising medical professionals having no awareness of how to diagnose rare diseases. Hence, many patients with rare diseases suffering from multiple symptoms are diagnosed only according to their symptoms, instead of with the underlying disease.

Limited access to treatments

Less than 5% of rare diseases have approved treatments globally, and only 15–20 rare diseases in India have Drug Controller General of India (DCGI)-approved treatments. There Creating multisectoral funding pools
 Besides the government, it is important to
 consider other relevant stakeholder groups that
 would be most likely to sponsor a cause close
 to their purpose – for example, corporates.
 Another option is to develop a shared-value
 model that intersects corporate purpose and
 societal impact; that is, the result of policies
 and practices that contribute to competitive
 advantage while simultaneously strengthening
 the communities in which a company operates.

2. Developing more inclusive insurance policies The government can look to explore the prospect of providing composite social insurance, while considering ways to link insurance as an extension of telemedicine and e-pharmacies to increase the affordability of diabetes medicines and out-of-pocket expenses for patients.

3. Imposing sin tax

"Sin taxes" are an excise tax levied on products that are known to elevate the risk of diabetes, such as sugar-sweetened drinks or tobacco. While helping to lower patients' risk of diabetes and obesity, sin taxes can work to raise revenue available to the government to support public health measures dedicated to diabetes management.

are also unclear reimbursement and support mechanisms in India, where the inclusion/ exclusion criteria for patient identification and treatment support are highly unclear.

Recommendations

These challenges can be overcome in various ways, including:

1. Raising awareness by encouraging multistakeholder collaboration

Multistakeholder collaboration should be encouraged to garner support and pave the way for discussing practical solutions that can be implemented to promote access to rare disease therapies, such as through multistakeholder forums. Patient advocacy groups should also be empowered, so that they have the resources they need to support their respective communities.

2. Improving diagnostics

Tertiary care hospitals that have been identified as centres of excellence (COEs) by the Ministry of Health (MoH) can help to provide short-term training programmes to educate doctors about rare diseases. Medical schools can also look to include the study of rare diseases in their curricula, as well as including a proper protocol to guide doctors in diagnosis and treatment.

3. Improving the usability of the Indian Rare Disease Registry (IRDR)

It would be ideal to improve the existing registry, allowing healthcare practitioners to input the relevant data points – this would aid in the creation of longitudinal data and identifying disease causality and cures.

4. **Drafting a common compendium document** This would allow people to become better educated and more aware of their options should they or their loved ones have a rare disease. Healthcare professionals can collaborate with research industries to create a common compendium document to better inform patients.

Financing

India may be facing multiple challenges in the financing of its healthcare sector for rare diseases, but there are solutions available:

1. Ensuring better use of the existing government budget through earmarking funds, supplemented with privatesector contributions

An option is to evolve existing policy towards state-level financing by first setting KPIs to

Policy action checklist

Government-led policies

Life-course immunization

- Working with private and public hospitals to facilitate data collection on patient immunization records and build up a National Immunization Registry
- Investing in infrastructure to develop more immunization centres to provide better access to those in rural and urban communities

Diabetes management

- Endorsing an open innovation concept to spur health-tech innovations that support people with diabetes, and potentially map this with India's National Health Stack (NHS) 2022 digital framework
- Collaborating with medical professionals to organize programmes that support pre-diabetes and diabetes patients (e.g. opening a mobile testing drive, or creating an online medication dispensary)
- Developing composite social insurance mechanisms, and linking insurance with

use funds at a state level, then carrying out a "horizon scan" throughout the pipeline at a governmental level, in order to allocate funds towards specific rare disease budgets. It would also be helpful to supplement the existing government budget with "top-ups" from the private sector through crowdfunding.

2. Encouraging the private sector to contribute funds towards screening for research benefits

By funding the screening stages of rare diseases, private-sector players could gain critical insights and data points from these screening results. They can then benefit from this data by using it for research and development towards potential future innovations.

- 3. Creating opportunities for private insurers to support funding in the screening phase Private insurers could play a useful role by investing in the screening phase to derive better analytics for the claims process. In doing so, insurers can help to improve efficiency in the existing system and improve affordability for patients.
- Implementing risk-pooling mechanisms to improve affordability of treatment for new and innovative therapeutics
 High-cost drugs can be made more affordable through a concerted effort by health insurance providers.

telemedicine and e-pharmacy for diabetes medication and accessories

- Imposing a sin tax on sugar-sweetened drinks

Rare diseases

- Working with both public and private hospitals to empower patient advocacy groups with adequate support and resources for their community efforts
- Learning from healthcare professionals and creating an official definition for rare diseases in India and categorization based on treatment potential
- Collaborating with private and public hospitals to organize short-term training programmes to educate doctors about rare diseases
- Working with the Ministry of Education to formally include courses on rare diseases as part of the medical school curriculum
- Earmarking rare disease efforts at a national level in the government health budget

Corporate-led initiatives

Life-course immunization

- Private insurers to link benefits/subsidies on earmarked insurance premiums to an individual's vaccination status
- Contributing part of businesses' corporate social responsibility (CSR) funding budget to a pool of funds earmarked to support life-course immunization efforts in India
- Private insurers could collaborate with employers to organize vaccination programmes at a company level

Diabetes management

- Creating digital health platforms that feature a patient-centric interface, making it easier for those with diabetes to obtain vital information and carry out teleconsultation with their doctors
- Opportunities to develop a shared-value model whereby corporates can collaborate with patient beneficiary organizations or hospitals to donate or subsidize their products (such as insulin and blood glucose monitors), especially for the lower-income patients

Rare diseases

- As part of their CSR initiatives, corporates could display their support for those afflicted with rare diseases at multistakeholder forums and pledge solutions to support these efforts
 - They could also contribute funds towards screening purposes as part of their CSR initiatives

- Research institutes could collaborate with healthcare professions to create a common compendium document to better inform patients about their treatment options for rare diseases
- Private insurers could contribute funds towards the screening phase in exchange for better analytics for the claims process
- Private insurers could take part in risk-pooling mechanisms for new and innovative therapeutics

Citizen-led initiatives

Life-course immunization

- Endorse mobile vaccination teams to bring facilities closer to citizens
- Use celebrity endorsements in dialects to encourage the uptake of life-course immunization

Diabetes management

 Collaborating with medical specialties to launch patient support programmes, including mental health support and guidance on simple self-management

Rare diseases

Crowdfunding to support patients with rare diseases

Japan

FIGURE 26 | Japan's healthcare system⁶⁰

FIGURE 27 | Demographics: Japan

Year	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
Population (m)61	126.98	126.96	126.75	126.50	126.19	125.76	125.28
Population growth (%) ⁶²	-0.11	-0.12	-0.16	-0.20	-0.21	-0.34	-0.27
Population aged 65 and above (% of total) ⁶³	26.02	26.59	27.11	27.58	28.00	28.40	28.80
Life expectancy ⁶⁴	83.79	83.99	84.10	84.21	84.36	84.77	84.79

How the system is designed

Japan's healthcare system is considered one of the best in the world, given that Japan has been pursuing universal health coverage and free access to healthcare. Almost everyone came to be insured in 1961 through the establishment of employee-based and community-based social health insurance. Patients basically have full freedom to choose their own healthcare providers and all approved drugs are covered by insurance. The Japanese population has the longest life expectancy among all OECD countries, and healthcare expenditure, as a share of gross domestic product (GDP), is above most of the developed countries in the organization.

Financing

Challenges in supporting the current tax policy The current tax policy is proving to be an unsustainable source of funding. Japan has a shrinking taxable workforce because of

Life-course immunization

Delivery

Low awareness and limited vaccine confidence In the early 1990s, the health hazards associated with vaccination became a social problem in Japan. Later in 1994, the revised Immunization Act changed the routine vaccination programme from compulsory to voluntary; this could be partially attributed to there being insufficient information on vaccination available to the public. While the vaccination uptake for routine paediatric vaccines is close to 100%, it remains low for non-paediatric vaccinations. This could lead to minimized protection for adults.

Lack of management of vaccination data and digitization

The current storage period for vaccination records of routine immunizations in Japan is set at five years

by the government in 2014, with baby boomers expected to turn 75 in 2025 and maximize demand for medical and nursing care. Since this policy, the distribution of medical functions has effectively and efficiently allocated medical resources, and the construction of a better medical care supply system has been promoted.

The regional medical care initiative was announced

However, the sustainability of the healthcare system is now under threat due to an ageing population, rising healthcare costs and a decrease in the working population.

its ageing population, and is also known as a "super-aged" country. Currently, 28% of the population is aged over 65, and this is anticipated to increase to 40% by 2060.

and the vaccination record is neither centralized nor useful for scientific research. It is worth considering whether this should be revised to keep track of data more accurately throughout an individual's lifecourse immunization.

A framework for the digitization of vaccination records using "My Number" (the ID system in Japan) has been introduced. It is hoped that digitizing records will result in: (1) accurate monitoring of vaccination rates; (2) a better understanding of individual vaccination histories; and (3) using them to recommend vaccinations to those who have not undertaken them.

Self-payment and impacts on vaccination rates In Japan, for Category A vaccines (all routine vaccinations for children are Category A), almost 100% of the cost is covered by public funding, hence the vaccination rate is close to 100%. However, for Category B vaccines (such as the influenza vaccine for those aged 65 and above), there is a lower subsidy rate. Rates for Category B thus remain low.

Recommendations

These challenges could be overcome in various ways, including:

1. Improving education using proper information platforms

A targeted education approach can improve awareness of and confidence in vaccinations in the population, reducing hesitancy and misinformation that may be conveyed by the media. At a minimum, children in schools, medical students at college, parents of school-age children, and parents of newborns should be targeted.

It is equally important to educate the population on the stigmas surrounding vaccination, and to ease concerns about side effects. This would increase confidence in vaccination.

2. Digitizing and storing data

Some medical institutions in Japan have begun working on digitizing data storage. This step is vital and should be continued to create a centralized, integrated data storage system in order to track immunization records for the Japanese population. One essential use case for digitized data would be a vaccination passport, which can be used for international travel.

While it is true that the private sector currently carries out some of the data collection for patient immunization records, it is important that the government also participates by maintaining an active surveillance system and providing support for the integration of data. One filtering tool that can be incorporated is the use of specific barcodes, which can be assigned to each vaccine, making it easier to access and track relevant data points.

Financing

Japan may be facing multiple challenges in financing its healthcare sector for life-course immunization, but there are possible solutions available:

1. Incentive mechanisms through insurance premiums

This solution is already used in various countries, where incentives are awarded to those who choose to take vaccines, through easy access to public spaces such as restaurants and sports grounds. Such incentive can be extended to insurance premiums, whereby insurers may lower premiums for those who choose to be vaccinated. It is important to remember, though, that some people may suffer allergic reactions to vaccinations and thus are not doing this by choice.

2. Social impact bonds (SIBs)

SIBs are a type of innovative finance instrument used in impact investment; essentially, they are sustainability bonds that can be used for vaccination efforts. In this process, donor countries and organizations may make pledges to the Ministry of Finance Japan/ Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare, and the funds can then be used for vaccinations. SIB insurance soared in 2020, largely because of growing interest in sustainable finance, ethical investments and the interest from governments and agencies to fund socially beneficial projects. It would be a potentially useful model for Japan to consider.

Diabetes

Delivery

Prevention of onset of diabetes (primary prevention)

The government had set a target of limiting the total number of diabetes patients to 10 million by 2022. As the number had reached 10 million by 2018, however, it has become necessary to control future increases. The target now is to reduce the number of people with metabolic syndrome by 25% (to 10.5 million) by 2022, down from 14 million in 2008. However, there were still 14.85 million people with metabolic syndrome in 2018, indicating that it may be hard to achieve the 2022 target number.

Early detection and treatment through health check-ups (primary prevention)

Japan's national health insurance requires

specific health check-ups for insured people and dependents aged 40 and over, as well as guidance on visceral fat obesity. The implementation rate for these health examinations is targeted at 70% by 2023, while the actual rate in 2018 was 55%. Also, the implementation rate for specific health guidance is aimed at 45% by 2023, while the actual rate in 2018 was 23%.

Prevention of aggravation (secondary and tertiary prevention)

In terms of secondary prevention, the government's target – for the percentage of patients continuing treatment to be 75% – has not yet been reached – standing at 66% as of 2019. The percentage of patients with poor blood glucose control (HbA1c) was 0.94% in 2017, close to the target of 1%, but further action is considered necessary.

As for tertiary prevention, the government's target of reducing the number of new patients on dialysis due to diabetic nephropathy to 15,000 per year by 2028 has not yet been achieved, with 16,000 patients still on dialysis as of 2019.

There is room for greater adoption in the usage of telemedicine, as well as the monitoring of treatment and lifestyle habits through health-related apps so as to mitigate/prevent the onset of disease and prevention aggravation.

Release from the stigma of diabetes

Prejudices based on outdated information may lead to disadvantages, including an inability to obtain necessary services such as life insurance or a mortgage or achieve employment or promotion. The stigma regarding diabetes needs to be addressed to ensure that patients are wellsupported in their mental health needs. Otherwise, patients may hide the fact that they have diabetes from those around them, potentially affecting their ability and willingness to seek treatment options. One way to tackle this issue is to promote a better understanding of the condition by ensuring accurate and relevant dissemination of information to the general public (this could be through health education platforms and other public health campaigns, for example).

Recommendations

These challenges could be overcome in various ways, including:

1. Promoting importance and spreading awareness

One way to motivate doctors to promote diabetes prevention is through consultation fees, prompting them to encourage patients to attend more regular check-ups and screening. HCPs and doctors could more actively educate their patients on the importance of a healthy lifestyle for diabetes prevention and management by providing resources in the form of online educational platforms or information booklets at clinics.

It is vital to note that unlike type 1 diabetes, public figures are often hesitant to share their type 2 diabetes status (since it is related to lifestyle). It would hence be beneficial to create a culture of openness whereby public figures are encouraged to disclose their condition and how they manage it. This would help increase awareness.

2. Preventing the aggravation of diabetes It would be useful to draw on health-tech tools that can help people with diabetes track their fitness and sleep cycles (considering diabetes is a lifestyle-related disease). Self-management tools can be used at home and data points can

be sent to patients' GPs. Should patients allow their data to be collected for research purposes, this will aid healthcare data science experts, who can analyse the metadata/lifestyle data and understand links with metabolic, genomic and behavioural statistics.

Empowering GPs with knowledge of diabetes management and the recommended lifestyle changes may also be beneficial for their patients. Interested GPs may undergo specialist training courses organized by the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare to increase their knowledge of diabetes management and treatment.

3. Digital monitoring of conditions

Digital tools (such as wearables or apps) can be promoted by healthcare providers (HCPs). These tools use certain algorithms to determine an individual's risk factors for diabetes, such as weight, blood pressure and heart rate. Data points can also be extracted and shared with an individual's HCP to help them better understand the individual's medical profile and analyse vital data points.

That said, HCPs play an important role in educating patients on the options they have available when it comes to early diabetes detection. The Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare should lead the messaging about highlighting the importance of early detection and screening for diabetes.

Financing

Japan may be facing multiple challenges in financing its healthcare sector for diabetes, but there are options available, in addition to preventing the onset and aggravation of diabetes:

1. Control over medical expenses related to diabetes

Medical costs for diabetes in Japan amounted to JPY 1.2 trillion as of 2018, and together with other lifestyle-related diseases - e.g. cardiovascular diseases (JPY 2 trillion), cerebrovascular diseases (JPY 1.8 trillion) and hypertensive diseases (JPY 1.7 trillion) these contribute to an overall rise in medical expenses. In addition, complications that arise from diabetes, such as dialysis, blindness and amputation of lower limbs, further contribute to higher medical expenses. Dialysis treatment (typically used for more severe cases of diabetes) adds up to a total amount of JPY 1.6 trillion. Therefore, early treatment of the disease and prevention of its severity itself will help control medical expenses related to diabetes. In this regard, many local governments are implementing projects to prevent the aggravation of diabetic nephropathy, but the depth and scope of these projects vary depending on the municipalities.

2. Control of out-of-pocket medical expenses Japan's public insurance system is generous by international standards, and out-of-pocket medical expenses are not significantly excessive due to the coverage of medical benefits. However, while there is a system to subsidize childhood medical expenses through the research and development project of the Child Welfare Act (Treatment of Specific Pediatric Chronic Diseases), the subsidies are no longer applicable from adulthood. As such, a question arises about affordability with regards to the availability and accessibility of treatment options.

3. Pooled philanthropic funds for diabetes patients

Pooled philanthropic funds from corporates can be used to support diabetes management improvement efforts in Japan. This could be

Rare disease

Delivery

Necessity to strengthen medical systems

Medical institutions and specialists trained to provide specialized diagnosis and treatment are unevenly distributed, both across prefectures as well as disease areas. The rare diseases covered by the core hospitals are mainly "designated intractable diseases" (which can be funded by public subsidies; there are 333 of these at present). In addition, the network of specialists and nonspecialists is not sufficiently established, and digital usage, including online medical care, is still developing. As a result, diagnosis is delayed in many regions, and the burden on patients and the medical costs associated with unnecessary tests and treatments have increased.

Insufficient treatment options

Many of the orphan drugs that have been approved in Europe and the United States are currently unapproved in Japan. Furthermore, there are fewer pipelines in the R&D space in Japan for orphan drugs as compared to Europe and the US (orphan drug lag).

For some diseases, the pathophysiology has not yet been elucidated and there are no diagnostic criteria assigned to these diseases. It is said that less than 5% of all rare diseases have specific treatments in place for them.

A big hurdle in clinical development for new drugs/devices

The government promotes the development of drugs and medical devices for rare diseases through the subsidy grant system and priority review system, and supports the establishment of diagnoses of rare diseases through the deployment of core hospitals, the introduction of innovative tests (e.g. next-generation sequencing [NGS]) and the establishment of clinical information databases that tied to the corporate social responsibility (CSR) efforts of large companies. In mid-2021, a pooled fund expected to raise over \$1 million was launched in Asia and intended to support healthcare systems in the region, with donors from a diverse range of backgrounds (such as venture capitalists and shipping conglomerates). Japan could adopt a similar model to this, with funds earmarked for diabetes management.

4. Social impact bonds (SIBs)

SIBs related to diabetes management can be sold to investors in Japan, with funds directly channelled to initiatives geared towards helping patients manage diabetes in the country. Traditionally, the focus of SIB programmes in Japan has been on healthcare, so this would closely align with the ongoing theme of SIBs in the country.

can be linked internationally. However, Japan is still in the process of discussing the development of an infrastructure for the collection and accumulation of disease data, and the use of digital technology in clinical trials is also still in the development stage. Additionally, Japan has its own regulatory framework in place for the approval of new drugs and devices. Finally, clinical development costs are considered to be higher in Japan compared to Europe and the US.

Recommendations

These challenges could be overcome in various ways, including:

1. Strengthening medical systems

Generalist doctors have often found it difficult to identify and connect with specialist doctors to whom they can refer patients. This limited awareness and knowledge base about rare diseases may also make it difficult to provide sufficient support to patients and their caregivers. In addition, patients often consult different doctors, meaning that data storage becomes siloed, with no consistent data points collected throughout a patient's journey. This can be countered by carrying out data integration into a single database. Ideally, horizontal integration of all patient data points could be used among hospitals, allowing data to be captured in a centralized, single database, making it easier for HCPs to access a patient's information.

A comprehensive and single data repository connecting data points between institutions should be considered. In addition, pharmaceutical companies can be required to carry out post-marketing surveys, whereby the data of patients who had received their diagnoses online could be integrated in the database. It is important to check that patients are willing and open to sharing their data, explaining that this benefits them and other patients as well as the data will be used for future research and development.

2. Upgrading the infrastructure for rare diseases

Currently, it takes many years to diagnose rare diseases. There are also several issues surrounding misdiagnoses. These issues can be tackled using upgraded infrastructure. Local health-tech innovators and pharmaceuticals could collaborate to develop new medicines and treatment options. It would also be useful to expand the scope of genetic testing. Currently, screening of newborns is available only in certain regions, and this does not cover testing for all specialty diseases. It may be worthwhile expanding testing coverage, especially for babies born into families with prior diagnoses of rare diseases.

In cases where patients may not require a face-to-face consultation with their doctors for routine check-ups, medication home delivery and teleconsulting functions should be considered. This simplifies access to treatment and may raise medication adherence.

3. Promoting more inclusivity

It is important that people with rare diseases are empowered and given a voice to ensure their concerns are heard. The government budget that goes towards their treatment efforts is small, so more priority needs to be placed on supporting people with rare diseases.

Currently, there is a very small number of specialists for rare diseases. It would be useful to create a specialist-to-specialist network to build a data-collection ecosystem, enabling information about a disease to be accumulated. Specialist networks can also gather useful learning from other networks, to see where

Policy action checklist

Government-led policies

Life-course immunization

- Improve vaccine communication among all stakeholders
- Deeper collaboration between the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare and the Ministry of Education on vaccines and vaccinations, to ensure people are educated
- Monitoring and digitalization of the vaccination record and integration to medical data is vital; the database development should be promoted by the national government. Data usage could be enhanced

possible treatment plans and approaches may be adapted for that disease.

It is vital to note that subsidies for some rare disease treatments for children are typically provided only to those up to the age of 20 unless they meet the criteria of "designated intractable disease". Given the high costs of such treatments, the government may need to provide greater financial support to adults aged 20 and above, who no longer qualify for subsidies.

Financing

Japan may be facing multiple challenges in financing its healthcare sector for rare diseases, but there are solutions available:

1. Improving medical insurance coverage or subsidies for rare disease patients

In Japan, patients with rare diseases other than the 333 "designated intractable diseases" and those with a "designated intractable disease" but who are mildly symptomatic and thus do not meet the criteria for subsidy, are not covered by the medical expense subsidy. This means that their burden of long-term medical treatment and diagnostics costs can still be heavy. Given the situation, there is a need to work with Japan's statutory health insurers to develop mechanisms that can be used to fund associated medical costs for patients with rare diseases who are not covered by the medical expense subsidy. A dedicated healthcare insurance programme can be created for them, with funding from both the state and national governments.

2. Private Finance Initiative (PFI)

The government can consider introducing a PFI scheme to solicit initial costs from investors in order to build a database on rare diseases, with the government subsequently purchasing the developed database.

by disclosing data to the private sectors and encouraging competition in the market

 Consider alternative financing mechanisms; for example, SIBs and incentive mechanism through insurance premiums

Diabetes management

- Encourage interactions among different stakeholders
- GPs to undergo specialist training courses organized by the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare and municipalities to increase their knowledge base about diabetes management and treatment

- Improve access to wearables:
 - Subsidies may be considered, as wearables may not be affordable for all
 - Sufficient resources on self-learning material regarding how to use these wearables should be made available on the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare website, to help those who are less tech-savvy

Rare diseases

- The testing coverage for newborn screening could be expanded, especially for babies born into families with rare diseases
- A specialist-to-specialist network to build a data collection ecosystem should be created, enabling information about a disease area to be accumulated
- Greater financial support (in the form of subsidies for some rare disease treatment) to adults aged 20 and above with rare diseases that do not meet the criteria of "designated intractable disease" should be provided, preventing costs from being a barrier to access to treatment
- The government could consider introducing a PFI scheme to solicit initial costs from investors to build a database on rare diseases

Corporate-led initiatives

Life-course immunization

 Collaborations between the private sector and the government to integrate immunization data for analysis should be encouraged Incentives for those who are vaccinated (such as reductions in insurance premiums, easy access to restaurants and other public spaces, etc.) can promote vaccination uptake

Diabetes management

- Digital fitness wearables or apps on patients' smartphones that use algorithms to determine their risk factors for diabetes can be employed
- Investors could buy SIBs, with the funds supporting initiatives geared towards helping patients manage diabetes

Rare diseases

- Collaboration between institutions to integrate data points, forming a comprehensive and single data repository
- Output of pharmaceutical companies' postmarketing surveys could be used and integrated with data from patients who received diagnoses online in the database
- Local health-tech innovators and pharmaceutical companies could collaborate to develop new medicines and treatment options

Citizen-led initiatives

Diabetes management

 Using celebrity influence on spreading awareness of type 2 diabetes could educate the public and raise awareness

Rare diseases

 People with rare diseases should be empowered to speak up, making their voices heard

Viet Nam

FIGURE 28 Viet Nam's healthcare system

FIGURE 29 | Demographics: Viet Nam

Year	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
Population (m)65	92.68	93.64	94.60	95.55	96.46	97.34	98.17
Population growth (%)66	1.05	1.03	1.02	0.99	0.96	0.91	0.85
Population aged 65 and above (% of total) ⁶⁷	6.66	6.83	7.03	7.28	7.55	7.87	_
Life expectancy68	75.11	75.12	75.24	75.32	75.40	75.47	75.57

Demographics

Viet Nam is the 15th most populous country in the world,⁶⁹ with a total population of 97.4 million people. By 2050, 20.4% of Viet Nam's population will be above the age of 65.⁷⁰ With the larger proportion of the population growing older and surviving longer, combined with a declining birth rate, we can expect a shortage of supply in the workforce, eventually resulting in a decline in productivity. As such, Viet Nam should be concerned about the possible socioeconomic problems associated with ageing populations in the years to come.⁷¹

Viet Nam is divided into eight major regions. Hanoi is situated in the north, with a population of 7.3 million, and Ho Chi Minh City is situated in the south, with a population of 7.9 million.⁷² Its administration is divided into 58 provinces, which are governed by five municipalities (Hanoi, Ho Chi Minh City, Can Tho, Da Nang and Hai Phong).⁷³ Looking at Viet Nam's healthcare system, its National Immunization Information System (NIIS) was launched in 2017.74 To register more people in the system, a review was conducted in 2019 to understand the determinants.⁷⁵ As of 2020, the NIIS has captured more than 20 million client records. However, its success has been mixed, with inconsistent data quality among the problems. Figure 28 depicts Viet Nam's public healthcare management structure. Approximately 94% of Viet Nam's healthcare facilities are under the management of individual local health authorities. This means that the individual local health authorities will have to manage and reach out to clients to register them. As people travel between districts, information asymmetry may occur, and information that is not updated can result in inconsistent data quality.

Financing situation

The current tax policy is proving to be increasingly unstable, with the taxable workforce shrinking more and more as the population ages, coupled with a large informal workforce, which is not captured by the tax system, of around 80%.

Limited coverage and funding for immunizations

The government covered only slightly more than half of routine immunization expenses in 2017, with the rest covered by donors. Adult vaccines such as influenza vaccines are also often not subsidized, except during some specific campaigns.

Limited coverage and funding for diabetes management

On average, a low-income household in Viet Nam living with diabetes spends around half of its total

income on diabetes, with the highest spending related to medications such as insulin. However, limited, and late, diagnostics and treatment increase the chances of incapacitation among working adults, often resulting in income loss and further reduced financial capacity for treatment.

Limited coverage and funding for rare diseases

More than 90% of global rare disease patients surveyed are not able to make a sustainable family living, with the residual medical expenses of patients with rare diseases exceeding three times their own income. Public reimbursement of orphan drugs is also limited in Viet Nam, such as a 30% reimbursement rate for Myozyme, a treatment drug for Pompe disease. This is partly due to the lack of earmarked funding for rare disease treatments stemming from low perceived cost-effectiveness.

Life-course immunization

Delivery

Low awareness and limited vaccine confidence

Awareness of boosters for required vaccinations for preschool children, adolescents and adults is shrinking. While Viet Nam has achieved high vaccination coverage for children, this is not the case for adults. There is also low vaccine confidence in Viet Nam; for example, hepatitis B vaccination coverage fell to 30% because of increased fear of side effects caused by media representation.

Limited accessibility of vaccination

Subsidized immunization services are often provided at commune health centres for one to three days per month, often resulting in long queues and requiring parents to take leave from work.

Lack of surveillance and data collection

There is also a limited use of data to drive efficiency. A recent Expanded Programme on Immunization (EPI) review stated that local data was not systematically used for forecasting and planning within the programme. Additionally, there is a lack of data collection for adult vaccination. Presently, there are very limited statistics about adult vaccination rates.

Recommendations

These challenges could be overcome in various ways, including:

1. Increasing multistakeholder awareness and implementing an adult vaccination schedule Policy-makers and healthcare practitioners play an important role in raising the general population's awareness and vaccination confidence. Through the strategic use of behaviour change communication (BCC), they could change the public's attitude towards life-course immunization.

Vaccination is made a priority for children in Viet Nam, but not for adults. Both carrot-and-stick approaches can be applied to promote the uptake of adult vaccination. For example, employers could include vaccination as part of employees' annual health check-ups. Some corporates such as Honda and Emirates have mandated that their employees receive vaccinations such as flu shots, while covering the cost.

For this measure to be scalable, an important enabler would be to establish a centralized platform that allows individuals to opt in to have their vaccination history recorded, enabling relevant stakeholders such as healthcare practitioners to assess and give recommendations accordingly.

2. Expanded access points and a streamlined supply chain

The administration of vaccines needs to be expanded beyond health centres and into other touchpoints such as vaccination centres and pharmacies to enhance accessibility.

Close conversations between industry players (for example, in the form of vaccine alliances) and policy-makers would be instrumental in bridging the gaps in understanding the challenges faced by multiple stakeholders in the ecosystems, thereby helping to streamline the processes and reduce unnecessary barriers.

Another element required to streamline the supply chain is the availability of data for demand forecasting. Presently, the lack of centralized immunization data has made it challenging for manufacturers to forecast demand, which could result in supply-chain disruption or wastages. Accessibility is both a function of availability and affordability. Unfortunately, while vaccines are widely available, lack of affordability will lead to limited adoption.

Financing

Viet Nam may be facing multiple challenges in financing its healthcare sector for life-course immunization, but there are solutions available:

1. Tax creativity

There is room to further maximize the use and efficiency of existing financing mechanisms. Taxation has been a traditional source of funding but often is not fully used for healthcare purposes. Viet Nam could refer to countries such as Taiwan and the Philippines, which earmark sin taxes, such as taxes on tobacco or alcohol, for healthcare purposes, to aid in the financing of the national immunization programme.

Collaboration with the private sector Collaboration between the public and private sectors can open up more creative possibilities. Presently, the Viet Nam government has collaborated with private players to offer discounted HPV vaccines in certain provinces to encourage uptake. Such a programme could be further expanded to cover a wider range of vaccines, including influenza vaccines.

In addition, the Viet Nam government is in the midst of revising health insurance law to strengthen the collaboration between public and private health insurers to expand coverage. Capitalizing on this trend, one idea worth exploring is that of partnering with private insurers to offer insurance coverage specifically for vaccination, which in the long run can help insurers achieve lower insurance claims – a win-win solution.

Diabetes management

Delivery

Lack of diagnostics

There is low awareness of, and limited priority assigned to, early detection of diabetes. Around 70% of Vietnamese people with diabetes were undiagnosed and very few had heard of the condition. There is also a lack of cost-effective tools. Many primary care facilities do not possess the capacity to diagnose, especially in mountainous areas.

The need to evolve the delivery model

There is currently limited confidence in insulin: patients have reservations about it, with some being afraid of "insulin addiction", some having a fear of injections and others lacking confidence in HCPs in remote provinces to provide insulin treatment. Limited numbers of patients seek treatment as many are required to travel to district-, provincialor national-level hospitals for treatment. The late initiation of insulin in turn leads to complications, such as 35% amputation of a diabetic foot.

Complexity and inaccessibility of self-management

Diabetic patients also spend the large majority of their time self-managing, with many confused about injection methods and tools. Vietnamese diabetic patients exhibited poor plasma glucose control in a study. Low-income households and those living in hard-to-reach areas also have limited access to diabetes products at the communal level.

Recommendations

These challenges could be overcome in various ways, including:

1. Increasing the role of district hospitals and community health centres

The healthcare services provided by Viet Nam district hospitals and community health centres are excellent, but many lack the necessary capability to detect and treat populations living with diabetes. To tackle this, policy-makers and private players could facilitate knowledge transfer and training from central hospitals down into district hospitals and community health centres.

Private players could also run initiatives with community health centres to educate healthcare workers in identifying high-risk populations and sharing the importance of regular check-ups and screenings.

2. Using proactive and innovative diagnostics To uncover undiagnosed diabetes cases, both "pull" and "push" strategies are required. Instead of waiting for the public to seek diagnosis, policy-makers and healthcare practitioners could proactively screen populations who are at risk. For instance, interviewing patients or

mandating them to fill out details about family history to identify high-risk cohorts.

In addition, creative tools could be adopted to digitize diabetes screening to save manpower and time and alleviate strain on the overloaded healthcare system. Solving the issue of access to diagnostics is the very first part of the journey; next is to pair it with the appropriate delivery model in order to provide the necessary treatment.

3. Using digital tools and high human touch with increased reach

Adherence to treatment is vital in managing diabetes. Digital apps could be used to enable patients to monitor their blood sugar level and enforce proper nutritional intake etc. However, digital tools should serve only to complement human interactions, not replace them. The role of human touch in enforcing compliance is indispensable. For example, digital tools (existing or new players) could be used to collect data about patients, which in turn enables personalized care from healthcare practitioners – nurses could call non-compliant patients daily to remind them about their insulin intake based on the data captured.

Equity is one important pillar of healthcare; however, access to treatment is often inequitable between urban and rural areas in Viet Nam. Policy-makers could partner with third parties such as reach52, an "offline-first" health tech platform that enables access to a full range of accessible health services, even in lowconnectivity markets, to access less developed or mountainous areas to deliver treatment.

Financing

Viet Nam may be facing multiple challenges in financing its healthcare sector for life-course immunization, but there are solutions available:

1. Personal incentives

One vital enabler in monitoring users' behaviour in order to provide necessary incentives is to digitize healthcare records and enable datasharing among stakeholders such as private insurers. This is because diabetes is associated with many comorbidities, with varying implications. Doing so would help form holistic benchmarks or baselines to monitor users' health improvements. Taiwan, for instance, has adopted such an approach; the integrated information collected there enabled healthcare practitioners to detect diabetes, initiate insulin treatment and coordinate care early, resulting in better management of the condition and significant cost savings in the long run.

2. System-wide incentives

Policy-makers could approach private investors to fund diabetes management initiatives and repay diverse stakeholders in the ecosystem with principal and a rate of return only once the measurable social outcomes or cost savings are achieved collectively.

Another system-wide change that government could implement is to encourage employers to provide holistic programmes and annual health screenings to their employees to help detect and manage diabetes early. Early diagnostics and intervention could delay the onset of the condition, resulting in less productivity loss at work, which is another win-win solution.

3. Disease-specific private insurance

Another financing mechanism worth exploring to plug the funding gap is for policy-makers such as the Ministry of Health and Ministry of Finance to devise diabetes-specific insurance, which is currently not available in the country. In line with the government's existing initiatives to strengthen the collaboration between public and private health insurers to expand coverage, policy-makers could partner with local insurance companies and private players to execute the plan.

Alternatively, a bottom-up approach could be considered – private players could collaborate with government-owned entities in the healthcare system such as state-owned hospitals and pharmacies to devise a plan for policy-makers' consideration.

Rare diseases

Delivery

Lack of priority

A Rare Disease Committee has been formed in Viet Nam, but the country still lacks a national strategy, such as patient registries and national guidelines for specific rare disease and a conducive regulatory environment. Asia-Pacific also publishes three times fewer studies on rare diseases than Europe.

Limited accessibility of treatment

Highly specialized and coordinated medical care can be challenging for hospitals with lower-resource settings; for example, there is only one hospital that provides treatment for lysosomal storage disorders in north Viet Nam. Some provinces also face challenges in accessing treatment due to restrictions such as unavailability of home infusion therapy.

Limited capacity and capability for diagnostics

A lack of generic counselling, prenatal screening and advanced newborn monitoring (<30% in Viet Nam) has contributed to late-stage diagnosis of rare diseases. Healthcare professionals also have limited capability to diagnose rare diseases, with less than half of haemophilia patients being detected.

Recommendations

These challenges could be overcome in various ways, including:

1. Enhancing awareness at all levels

Policy-makers need to recognize that while the prevalence of a single rare disease might seem low if viewed in isolation, when combined, the collective economic and societal impact of the cohort of rare disease types is significant. They consume a disproportionate amount of healthcare resources relative to their prevalence and detecting and treating them earlier would result in significant savings. On the healthcare practitioners' front, awareness and knowledge of rare diseases could be enhanced via training in medical school, which in turn could be funded by the private sector. This approach has been adopted in countries such as the UK, where rare diseases are covered in undergraduate and postgraduate medical training.

In addition, awareness among the population could be elevated via a network of champions and friends. Enhanced awareness among the population and patient groups would effect a change in attitude towards such diseases at the national level.

2. Strengthening patient advocacy programmes The existence of rare disease patient groups is limited in Viet Nam as they are legally required to be linked to hospitals or associations that are considered as legal entities. One way to broaden their use is to actively engage policymakers, healthcare practitioners and key opinion leaders to raise awareness and rally for change in legislation. This would allow for greater independence in forming bigger patient advocacy groups.

Viet Nam could also employ the expertise and resources of other established networks in the region, such as the Asia-Pacific Alliance of Rare Disease Organisations (APARDO), to strengthen its patient advocacy programmes. The lack of national priority is the greatest hurdle to overcome for rare diseases. Once this is resolved, efforts could be trickled down to enhance the accessibility of treatment.

3. Employing cross-functional therapeutic expertise

Viet Nam leads the way in certain therapeutic areas and plays a major role in various international studies. One such area is in-vitro fertilization (IVF). As most rare diseases have a genetic cause and could be detected or treated using prenatal screening and advanced newborn monitoring, Viet Nam could potentially employ its expertise in IVF to expand into rare diseases and develop pathways to adopt more advanced diagnostic and treatment options.

Another aspect in terms of the accessibility of treatment is the affordability of orphan drugs. However, the residual medical expenses of patients with rare diseases often exceeds three times their household incomes. This could potentially be combatted using the financing solutions offered below.

Financing

Viet Nam may be facing multiple challenges in financing its healthcare sector for rare diseases, but there are solutions available:

1. Shaping reimbursement policy

Unlike other countries that have established a defined "Rare Disease Act", Viet Nam still lacks a proper policy detailing the definition of rare disease, its care pathway and, importantly, the end-to-end finance needs of specific rare diseases and the associated reimbursement frameworks. One way to gather inputs to shape such a policy is to pilot privately funded smallscale programmes such as early assessment frameworks to generate epidemiology data and establish reimbursement needs in certain provinces that could be extrapolated to other regions. Another way is to use the established reimbursement frameworks of organizations such as the APEC Rare Disease Network.

Establishing a "Rare Disease Act" is futile if it does not translate into actual actions backed by a commensurate level of investment. The private sector and government bodies, such as health authorities, need to work hand in hand on all initiatives.

2. Raising funds via innovative financing mechanisms

Another way to achieve financial sustainability in healthcare is to establish new sources of

Policy action checklist

Government-led policies

Life-course immunization

- Centralized government media could be used to disseminate positive stories to promote lifecourse vaccination
- Policy-makers and healthcare practitioners could adopt behavioural sciences to understand patient biases, repositioning life-course immunization as a social norm

funding. Novel financing mechanisms such as crowdfunding at the community level (a tactic deployed by the Singapore government), using gamification platforms to drive donations for rare diseases, transferring the social impact bond concept driven by banks in Viet Nam's green energy space to the healthcare sector, and reallocating sin taxes or taxes extracted from mature drug products to rare diseases could be further explored in order to create additional financial capacity for the mission ahead.

One thing to note is that while sin taxes on tobacco, alcohol and sugar could be an additional source of funding for healthcare, they lack sustainability as the desired behavioural changes would eventually be achieved, resulting in gradual tax revenue decline. Instead, new taxes could be targeted at more sustainable areas such as green energy initiatives

3. Minimizing wastage

There are two ways to look at future-proofed health system financing: one is to minimize wastage of existing resource allocation; the second is to establish new sources of funding. For the former, there is still room to further streamline the existing care packages for Viet Nam so as to minimize wastage. One idea is to learn from prostate cancer programmes establishing a COE that serves to consolidate expertise across hospitals and streamline provision of care (i.e. resource allocation). On average, it takes a rare disease patient seven years to be diagnosed correctly; the level of ineffective resource consumption that occurs should be a financial driver in and of itself to take rapid action on this cause

A disease may be rare, but hope should not be. Rare diseases are often not treated as a priority in resource-constrained countries such as Viet Nam. We need to rethink how we perceive rare diseases. The cost of diagnostics and treatments is high but the cost of neglecting rare diseases is even higher. What's more, developing countries such as Viet Nam have the privilege of standing on the shoulders of giants to learn from developed countries, and leapfrog forward. There are no excuses not to do so.

- Collaborations between industry players (such as vaccine alliances) and policy-makers could streamline the processes and reduce unnecessary barriers
- Enabling data-sharing among multiple agencies (such as the Ministry of Health and Ministry of Education) to demonstrate the costs and benefits of life-course immunization initiatives to garner more resource allocation

Diabetes management

- Policy-makers and healthcare practitioners could proactively screen populations who are at risk
- Central or provincial hospitals could equip district hospitals and community health centres with the know-how to treat diabetes (such as measuring insulin sensitivity for prescription and providing the appropriate insulin dosage to avoid addiction)
- Policy-makers could collaborate with third parties (such as reach52) to contact less developed or mountainous areas to deliver treatment
- The government could encourage employers to provide holistic programmes and annual health screenings to their employees to help detect and manage diabetes early
- Policy-makers could devise diabetes-specific insurance, in line with the government's existing initiatives, to strengthen the collaboration between public and private health insurers to complement coverage. Policy-makers could partner with local insurance companies and private players to execute the plan

Rare diseases

- Viet Nam could draw on WHO initiatives as an alternative to creating national registries, or collaborate with countries with established rare disease patient registries to glean insights
- Using the expertise and resources of other established networks in the region (such as APARDO) to strengthen its patient advocacy programmes
- Joining consortiums looking at facilitated regulatory models and alliances to bring treatments into markets without the high HTA costs being borne by each market independently
- Learning from prostate cancer programmes that wastage should be minimized in the diagnosis of rare diseases

Corporate-led initiatives

Life-course immunization

- Listing important vaccinations as one of the prerequisites for employment and necessary to attend large-scale events
- The private sector could partner with the provinces to pilot programmes to gather data
- Collaboration between public and private sectors could open more creative possibilities

 Current programmes could be expanded, such as the government's collaboration with private players to offer discounted HPV vaccines

Diabetes management

- Private players and policy-makers could facilitate knowledge transfer and training from central hospitals down into district hospitals and community health centres
- Private players could run initiatives with community health centres to educate healthcare workers to identify high-risk populations, and share the importance of regular check-ups and screenings
- Private insurers and policy-makers could offer incentives for long-term behavioural change
- Policy-makers could tap into private investors to fund diabetes management initiatives and repay diverse stakeholders in the ecosystem with principal and a rate of return only once measurable social outcomes or cost savings are achieved collectively

Rare diseases

- Awareness and knowledge of rare diseases in healthcare practitioners could be enhanced via training in medical school, which in turn could be funded by the private sector
- Collaborations with private players such as pharmaceutical companies and various important opinion leaders to form privately funded registries and to drive national studies
- Privately funded small-scale programmes (such as early assessment frameworks) could be piloted to generate epidemiology data and establish reimbursement needs in certain provinces and extrapolated to other regions

Citizen-led initiatives

Life-course immunization

- Use celebrity endorsements in dialects to encourage the uptake of lifecourse immunization
- Endorse mobile vaccination teams to bring facilities closer to citizens, especially those who live further from the commune vaccine centres

Diabetes management

 Grassroots and federal initiatives should be encouraged to raise awareness of diabetes management

Rare diseases

 Patient advocacy groups could provide peer support and access to support services for patients suffering from rare diseases

Appendix B: Solution clustering details and crowdsourcing inputs

Thematic area: Life-course immunization (Submission 1)

Name: Daniel Laverick

Email: <u>dlaverick@zuelligpharma.com</u>

Organization: Zuellig Pharma

Job title: Head of SAP & IT Solutions

To help governments, pharmaceutical companies and healthcare providers combat the trade in fake and substandard medicines, Zuellig Pharma launched eZTracker in APAC last year. This is the first smartphone application in Asia to be powered by blockchain technology; it ensures product traceability by allowing healthcare practitioners and patients to verify the authenticity, provenance and correct storage conditions of a medical product by scanning its barcode. The essential success factors for a mass vaccination programme are speed, security, efficiency and cost management. <u>eZVax</u> is a vaccine management solution that enables governments and private clients to manage all aspects of vaccine distribution and administration. The solution is made up of four pillars: a data aggregation solution, eZTracker, a citizen services app and provider services.

In the absence of robust supply-chain solutions, governments will continue to face challenges in forecasting, negotiating and procuring vaccines. The equitable distribution of vaccines to local populations will emerge as the biggest challenge in the absence of "through-chain" visibility of the vaccination process.

Thematic area: Life-course immunization (Submission 2)

Name: Eleni Dimokidis

Email: elenidimokidis@gmail.com

Organization: MyHealthLab Asia-Pacific

Job title: Senior Manager

While the APAC community continues to harness the power of AI algorithms to increase our diagnostic capacity, improve the therapeutic efficacy of chemical agents and gain meaningful insights in the context of public health, significant data surveillance challenges remain. It is of paramount importance to enable the creation of a universal framework for ethics, standards and operating principles for AI-enabled healthcare systems, in order to minimize the potential risks associated with privacy protection, algorithm discrimination and model interpretability.

Supporting document:76

Thematic area: Non-thematic specific (Submission 3)

Name: Logan Ansell

Email: logan@reach52.com

Organization: reach52

Job title: Partnerships

reach52 is a social enterprise delivering healthcare for the 52% of the world who cannot access it, using offline-first mobile apps and tech platforms. reach52 is working to address common implementation challenges through proactive cooperation and innovation. Among these are government regulatory environments that discourage digital approaches to healthcare in lower-resource settings through ambiguous or prohibitive laws. In response, reach52 has worked with subnational governments to obtain special permission to operate pilot projects, although the organization still frequently encounters government bureaucracy that moves slowly and lacks agility.

For more information on the model:⁷⁷ Supporting document:^{78 79}

Contributors

Lead authors

Chris Hardesty Director, Life Sciences, KPMG in Singapore

Guillaume Sachet Partner, Advisory, KPMG in Singapore

Core team

Sofiat Akinola Global Future Council on Healthy Ageing and Longevity, World Economic Forum

Genya Dana Head of Healthcare, World Economic Forum

Kelly McCain Head, Healthcare Initiatives, World Economic Forum

Keiichi Ohwari Partner, Head of Healthcare, KPMG Japan Sagar Pawar Partner, Healthcare and Life Sciences Practices, KPMG India

Franck Perraudin Head of Global Health Partnerships and Alliances, Sanofi

Evan Rawstron Partner, Head of Health and Human Services, KPMG Australia

Nivedita Sen Research and Analysis Specialist, Health and Healthcare, World Economic Forum

Luke Treloar Strategy Managing Director, National Head of Healthcare and Life Sciences, KPMG Viet Nam and Cambodia

Ada Wong Asia Public Affairs Lead, Sanofi

Acknowledgements

KPMG would like to thank Singapore team members past and present for their contributions, including Ng Yen Tink, Soey Chiam, Nicole Rajoo, Manli Yang, Megan Neo, Keith Soon and Stella Lee Chaehyun, among the various teams involved in executing the country-level workshop activities.

We would also like to thank the EU-ASEAN Business Council for fostering the original paper's concept in South-East Asia as well as for hosting the crowdsourcing initiative.

Participants - Australia

Life-course immunization

Charles Bark, Founder and Chief Executive Officer, HiNounou

Klair Bayley, Senior Program Officer, WA Dept Health – Office of Population Health Genomics

Simon Bunde, EGM Strategic Operations & Innovation, EBOS Group

Annette Hicks, Board Chair, WADAC

Catherine Holiday, Chief Executive/Tele Health Nurse (Rare Genetic Complex Conditions), Centre for Community-Driven Research

Catherine Hughes, Director, Immunisation Foundation of Australia

John Jackson, President, Victoria Branch, Pharmaceutical Society of Australia

Carl Retschko, Executive Director, Plenary Group

Raymond Saich, President, Australia Pompe Association

Kim Sampson, Chief Executive Officer, Immunisation Coalition

Brandon Shaw, Principal, Shawview Consulting

Catherine Whelan, Senior Manager, Strategic Partnerships, Asthma Australia

Diabetes management

Sof Andrikopoulos, Chief Executive Officer, Australian Diabetes Society

Warren Bingham, Executive Chairman, MedTech International Andrew Bryant, Chief Customer Officer, Healthdirect Australia

Eleni Dimokidis, Senior Manager, MyHealthLab Asia-Pacific

Sophie McGough, General Manager, Growth and Innovation, Diabetes WA

Andrew Roma, Senior Health Strategist, Medibank

Theunis van den Berg, Key Account Manager, Healthcare Logistics

Mike Wilson, Chief Executive Officer, JDRF

Rare disease management

Gareth Baynam, Clinic Geneticist, Western Australian Register of Developmental Anomalies

Renee Brown, Secretary, Australian Pompe Association

Sharon Caris, Executive Director, Haemophilia Foundation Australia (HFA)

Sheridan Campbell, Director, Fabry Australia

Hugh Dawkins, Executive Director, DA Precision Health – Independent Consultant

Gail Hilton, Project Manager, Childhood Dementia Initiative

Nicole Mills, Chief Executive Officer, Rare Voices Australia

Caron Molster, Manager, WA Department of Health

Jan Mumford, Chief Executive Officer, Genetic Alliance

Heather Renton, Chief Executive Officer, Syndromes Without A Name (SWAN)

Participants – India

Life-course immunization

Disha Agarwal, Technical Officer, Ministry of Health & Family Welfare

Prenika Anand, M&E and Health Policy Manager, Aditya Birla Capital

Silki Anand, Executive – Health Product Factory, Royal Sundaram General Insurance Sangeeta Barde, Managing Partner, Havas Life Sorento

Ruma Bhargava, Lead, Healthcare, World Economic Forum

Tejas Bhatt, Head Digital Health, AXA

Girja Biyani, Client Manager, Swiss Re

Chandrakant, Director, Care Health Insurance

Annapurna Das, General Manager Vaccines, Sanofi

Ashok Kumar Des, Consultant Endocrinologist, PIMS

Sita Ratna Devi, Chief Executive Officer, Dakshayani and Amaravati Health and Education

Veena Dhawan, Joint Commissioner, Immunization, Ministry of Health and Family Welfare

Ananya Gupta, Project Manager, Max Healthcare

Megha Gupta, People to People Health Foundation

Charles Harvey, Regional Vaccine Public Policy Director, Japan, China and Asia Pacific, MSD

Manish Kapoor, Principal Business Development, Amazon Web Services

Sushil Katdare, Sanofi

Cheena Malhotra, People to People Health Foundation

Akash Malik, Senior National Programme Manager, UNDP

Anika Mandla, Research Consultant, Max Healthcare

Annapurna Mishra, LKY School, NUS

Susanta Mishra, LKY School, NUS

Aparna Mittal, Chief Executive Officer, PatientsEngage

Aruna Mohan, Consultant Pediatric Dentist and Director, Capstone Dental Care, Capstone Clinic/Apollo Hospitals, Chennai

Mainul Mondal, Founder and Chief Executive Officer, Ellipsis Health

Bhaskar Nerurkar, Head – Health Claims, Bajaj Allianz General Insurance

Vimal Kumar Pal, Head of Sales – Public Market, Sanofi Pasteur

Laxmikant Palo, Chief Executive Officer, People to People Health Foundation Chandrashekar Ranga, ODCI, Central Drugs Standard Control

V. Ramasubramanian, Consultant/ Professor Infectious Diseases, Capstone Clinic/Apollo Hositals, Chennai

Krishnakumar Sankaranarayanan, India Managing Director, Equalize Health

Mihir Shah, Global Public Policy Director, Affordability Strategy, MSD

Rushabh Jitendra Shah, Medical Advisor, Royal Subdaram General Insurance

Awnish Kumar Singh, Research Scientist, National Technical Advisory Group on Immunization, Ministry of Health and Family Welfare

Kapil Singh, Technical Officer, Ministry of Health and Family Welfare

Pooja Singh, Royal Sundaram General Insurance

Ira Sobel, Founder and Chief Executive Officer, Fintech 4longevity

Himanshu Sikka, Practice Lead – Health and Chief Strategy and Diversification Officer, IPE Global

Gaurav Tripathi, Head, Health Management, Wellthy Therapeutics

CAO Ying, China Country Director, Vital Strategies

Diabetes management

Cyrus Aibara, Director of Insulin, Sanofi

Rohan Arora, Blue Circle Diabetes Foundation

Sangeeta Barde, Managing Partner, Havas Life Sorento

Shalini Bassi, Public Health Foundation of India

Amit Chander, Senior Investment Officer, IFC

Dinesh Chindarkar, Co-Founder & Director, MediaMedic Communications

Sunil Choudhry, Disease Management and Intervention Manager, Aditya Birla Capital

Sumeet Dhagia, The Diabesties Foundation

Guarav Dharmshaktu, Assistant Vice-President Marketing, Wellthy Therapeutics

Shweta Gosalia, Nurture Health Solutions

Chitra Gupta, Director Healthcare, US-India Strategic Partnership Forum

Birgit Holz, Head of Contracting Innovation, Sanofi

Sujeet Jha, Principal Director Endocrinology, Max Healthcare

Shilpa Joshi, Consultant Dietitian, Mumbai Diet and Health Centre

Natasha Kapre, Nurture Health Solutions

Nupur Lalvani, Founder Director, Blue Circle Diabetes Foundation

Saurabh Mhatra, Sanofi

Diwakar Mittal, Director Strategic Projects Sanofi Diabetes India, Sanofi

Snehal Nandagawli, Blue Circle Diabetes Foundation

Shital Raval, Medical Editor, PatientsEngage

Tina Rawal, Public Health Foundation of India

Sheryl Salis, Director, Nurture Health Solutions

Krishnakumar Sankaranarayanan, India Managing Director, Equalize Health

Jazz Sethi, Founder Director, The Diabesties Foundation

Anushka Shah, Associate, US-India Strategic Partnership Forum

Harpal Singh Malhotra, Head – Medical Services, Apollo Sugar Clinics

Anders Zeller, APAC Public Affairs Lead, Novo Nordisk

Rare disease management

Silki Anand, Executive – Health Product Factory, Royal Sundaram General Insurance

Sangeeta Barde, Managing Partner, Havas Life Sorento

Shayhana Ganesh, Chief Consultant, Health Management, Aditya Birla Capital

Jitendra Kumar, Access to Medicine Lead, Takeda

Anil Raina, General Manager, Sanofi Genzyme

Sameer Sethi, Lysosomal Storage Disorders Support Society

Vikas Sharma, Vice-President, Dr Lal Pathlabs

Prasanna Shirol, Co-Founder and Executive Director, ORDI – Organization for Rare Diseases India

Jyoti Shukla, Sanofi Genzyme

Manjit Singh, Hon. President, Lysosomal Storage Disorders Support Society

Parameshwaran Sitaram, Director Public Affairs, Sanofi Genzyme

Swamy, ORDI – Organization for Rare Diseases India

Sangeeta Tikyani, Director Public Health, Dr ASK Healthcare @ Home

Nakul Verma, Senior Director Public Affairs, Sanofi

Jackson Zhu, Chief Executive Officer, MBm

Participants – Japan

Life-course immunization

Kozaburo Hikosaka, KPMG Japan

Yuika Ikeda, Sanofi

Masayuki Imagawa, Takeda

Yumi Inoo, Medly

Hiroka Komori, MSD

Ryo Matsuda, KPMG Japan

Shinsuke Muto, Integrity Healthcare

Hideaki Nagai, Tokyo National Hospital

Eiichi Ohmura, Japan IDDM Network

Keiichi Ohwari, KPMG Japan

Noriho Okudera, Vaccines for the World's Children

Akinori Sugaya, Know VPD/Sugaya Pediatric Clinic

Tai Takahashi, International University of Health and Welfare

Yasuaki Tojo, Development Bank of Japan

Goichiro Toyoda, Medley

Hanako Tsuyuzaki, KPMG Japan

Yasuyuki Uechi, AstraZeneca

Hiroyuki Yamakawa, Keio University

Nobuo Yamamoto, Japan Pharmaceutical Association

Takeru Yamamoto, Welby

Diabetes management

Charles Bark, HiNounou

Yuta Hagiwara, PREVENT

Takeru Hiki, Welby

Kozaburo Hikosaka, KPMG Japan

Yumi Inoo, Medley

Tatsuo Inoue, Japan IDDM Network

Kazuki Kubota, MSD

Ryoichi Kusama, MICIN

Naoyuki Matsubara, Sanofi

Ryo Matsuda, KPMG Japan

Hikari Mawzawa, H2

Hidemi Mikado, SOSHINSHA

Shinsuke Muto, Integrity Healthcare

Masaki Nakamura, Medical Data Vision

Eiichi Ohmura, Japan IDDM Network

Keiichi Ohwari, KPMG Japan

Kumiko Takahashi, Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry

Tai Takahashi, International University of Health and Welfare

Kento Takeyama, PREVENT

Chikara Tanigaki, H2

Yasuaki Tojo, Development Bank of Japan

Hanako Tsuyuzaki, KPMG Japan

Rare disease management

Fernando Arnaiz, Roche

Philippe Auvaro, OrphanPacific

Misako Hamamura, Takeda Pharmaceutical

Kozaburo Hikosaka, KPMG Japan

Yumi Inoo, Medley

Tatsuo Inoue, Japan IDDM Network

Ryoichi Kusama, MICIN

Naoyuki Matsubara, Sanofi

Ryo Matsuda, KPMG Japan Shinsuke Muto, Integrity Healthcare Masaki Nakamura, Medical Data Vision Kikoh Obi, KYORIN Pharmaceutical Eiichi Ohmura, Japan IDDM Network Keiichi Ohwari, KPMG Japan Toshiaki Okamura, Nobel Pharma Toshiyuki Seto, Osaka City University Jin Shiomura, Nobel Pharma Yasuaki Tojo, Development Bank of Japan Hanako Tsuyuzaki, KPMG Japan Hiroyuki Yamakawa, Keio University Ooki Yamano, Takeda Pharmaceutical

Participants - Singapore:

Life-course immunization

Anastasia, Manager, Raffles Medical Group

Parisa Aslani, Vice-President, FIP, International Pharmaceutical Federation

Joseph Edwards, Programme & Marketing Communications Manager, Diabetes Singapore

Cheryl Fong, Partner Development Manager, Amazon Web Services

Penny George, Head of Public Affairs, Australia and New Zealand, Sanofi

Laura Gutierrez, Head Corporate PA, Sanofi

Eugene Hong, Healthcare Office, DBS Bank

John Jackson, President, Western Pacific Pharmaceutical Forum

Nokuthula Nikki Kitikiti, Public Health Physician, Duke-NUS Medical School

Koh Kwei-Foong, Regional Business Development Lead for Smart Nation, Amazon Web Services

Daniel Laverick, Head of SAP & IT Solutions, Zuellig Pharma

Htein Lin, Senior Manager, Raffles Medical Group

Ian Matthews, Deputy Group Chief Technology Officer, National University Health System Aparna Mittal, Chief Executive Officer, PatientsEngage

Patricia Pascual, Global Head of Public Affairs, Consumer Healthcare, Sanofi

Gonçalo Sousa Pinto, Lead for Practice Development and Transformation, International Pharmaceutical Federation

Julian Sham, APAC & Japan Head of Health Business, Amazon Web Services

Dennis Shen, Strategic Advisor, APACMed

Tristan Tan, Former Vice-President Data Analytics, Zuellig Pharma

Satyaprakash Tiwari, Executive Director, Diabetes Singapore

Janice Trinh, Investment Professional, Quadria Capital

Mila Volkova, Deputy Manager, Raffles Medical Group

Nguyen Quang Trung, Deputy Director, The Partnership for Health Advancement in Vietnam (HAIVN)

Tom Vanmolkot, Former Executive Vice-President, Distribution and Client Services, Zuellig Pharma

Danny Yeo, Senior Technical Program Manager, Amazon Web Services

Chong Chia Yin, Senior Consultant, KK Women's and Children's Hospital

Cao Ying, China Country Director, Vital Strategies

Diabetes management

Martin Bernhardt, Head Corporate PA, Sanofi

Alissa Brown, Head of Market Access Academy, Sanofi

Daniel Chew, ACMB (Medical Manpower development), Tan Tock Seng Hospital

Patrick Chia, Director of Clinical Transformation Service, Integrated Health Information Systems (IHIS)

Haissam Chraiteh, General Manager Asia Zone, General Medicines, Sanofi

Laura Collet, Corporate Public Affairs International Project lead, Sanofi

Henry Featherstone, Global Public Affairs, Sanofi

Cecilia De Foucaucourt, Head of Bilateral Relations, Sanofi Sylvie Greneche, Head of Market Access, Sanofi

Whei Chern Ho, Head Corporate Communications, Fullerton Health

Joanna Kwa, Director, Data Analytics, Zuellig Pharma

Bee Yong Mong, Head, SingHealth Duke-NUS Diabetes Centre, Singapore General Hospital

George Patapis, Healthcare & Life Sciences Lead, Amazon Web Services

Evelyn Pang, Vice-President, Marketing (ZP Therapeutics), Zuellig Pharma

Rehan Saghir, Executive Vice-President, ZP Therapeutics, Zuellig Pharma

Doreen Tan, Head of Public Affairs Malaysia, Sanofi

Rare disease management

Veronica Calzada, Global Speciality Care PA Lead, Sanofi

David Elvira, Corporate Public Policy Head, Sanofi

Lisa Foster, Chief Executive, Rare Disorders NZ

Karin Jager, Senior Director, Public Affairs and Patient Advocacy, Takeda Pharmaceuticals

Ritu Jain, President, APARDO

Poh Lin Lim, Head of Market Access Hong Kong, Sanofi

Quek Wee Ling, General Manager, Special Care for Thailand, Malaysia, Vietnam, Sanofi

Aslem Mohamed, Key Account Manager, Zuellig Pharma

R. Rajakanth, Executive Director, Rainbow Across Borders

Tan Ee Shien, Head, Genetics Service, KK Women's and Children's Hospital

Taketo Tanaka, President, Western Pacific Pharmaceutical Forum

Participants – Viet Nam

Life-course immunization John Ditty, Partner, KPMG

Jeff Folland, Head of ZP Therapeutics Vietnam, Zuellig

Lucas Fortier, Country Director, IQVIA

Pham Thi Thu Ha, Public Affairs Lead for Vaccines, Sanofi

Charles Harvey, Regional Director, Vaccine Public Policy Japan, China and Asia Pacific (JCAP), MSD (Merck)

Nguyen Ngoc Lan, GTS Sales Head, DBS

Truong Tuyet Mai, Medical Doctor and Nutritionist, National Institute of Nutrition

Nguyen Ngoc Minh, Country Manager, Aetna International

Lynette Moey, Managing Director, Bayer Vietnam

Thuy Nguyen, Director, Pharma Group Secretariat

Xuan Thuy Nguyen, Project Officer, Pharma Group Secretariat

Nguyen Thi Luong Phong, Head of Public Affairs (Indochina)

Nguyen Khanh Phuong, Vice-Director, Health Strategy and policy Institute

Penn Policarpio, General Manager (Consumer Healthcare), Sanofi

Mihir Shah, Global Policy Director, MSD (Merck)

Yen Nhi Tran Thi, Intern, Pharma Group Secretariat

David Tick, GM Vaccines Indochina, Sanofi

Phung Lam Toi, Health Services Delivery and Management Department, Health Strategy and Policy Institute

Oudjit Toufik, Public Affairs and CSR Professional

Duy Tran, Vice-President, Institutional Banking Group, DBS

Emin Turan, General Manager of General Medicines (Country Lead for Indo China), Sanofi

Nguyen Tuan Viet, Official, Health Strategy and Policy Institute

Diabetes management

Le Ngoc Bao, Deputy Director, HAIVN

Mason Cobb, Chairman, Victoria Healthcare Vietnam

Mai Thi Thanh Huong, Public Affairs Lead CHC, Sanofi

Robert Kruit, Senior Vice-President, Strategic Partnerships & Business Development, Zuellig Pharma

Dennis Shen, Strategic Advisor, APAC Med

Rare disease management Nguyen ChiTrung, Head of Sanofi Genzyme, Sanofi

Monica Ferrie, Chief Executive, Genetic Support Network of Victoria

Nguyen Si Lam, Public Affair Lead, Sanofi

Nguyen Khanh Phuong, Vice-Director, Health Strategy and Policy Institute

R. Rajakanth, Executive Director, Rainbow Across Borders

This report and research were sponsored by Sanofi.

Endnotes

- "From Health-for-All to Health-for-Wealth. Asia-Pacific's Healthcare Financing Needs a Rethink", World Economic Forum, 19 November 2020. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/11/from-health-for-all-to-health-for-wealth-asia-pacific</u>.
- 2. "Universal Health Coverage (UHC)", World Health Organization, 1 April 2021. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/universal-health-coverage-(uhc)</u>.
- "Current Health Expenditure (% of GDP) Singapore, Vietnam, India, Australia, Japan", The World Bank. [Online]. Available: <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SH.XPD.CHEX.GD.ZS?end=2018&locations=SG-VN-IN-AU-JP&start=2018&view=bar</u>. [Accessed 6 Aug 2021].
- 4. "Life Expectancy at Birth, Total (Years) Singapore, Vietnam, India, Australia, Japan", The World Bank. [Online]. Available: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.DYN.LE00.IN?locations=SG-VN-IN-AU-JP . [Accessed 6 August 2021].
- 5. "Population Ages 65 and Above (% of Total Population) Singapore, Vietnam, India, Australia, Japan", The World Bank.
 [Online]. Available: <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.65UP.TO.ZS?locations=SG-VN-IN-AU-JP</u>.
 [Accessed 6 August 2021].
- 6. "Life-Course Vaccination", The Health Policy Partnership. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.healthpolicypartnership.com/</u> project/life-course-vaccination/. [Accessed 20 August 2021]
- 7. "Why Vaccines Are Not Just for Children", World Economic Forum, 23 April 2019. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2019/04/vaccines-work-vaccinations-healthcare-medicine-world-immunization-week-health-organization/</u>.
- 8. "Managing Diabetes", NIDDK. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.niddk.nih.gov/health-information/diabetes/overview/</u> <u>managing-diabetes</u>. [Accessed 20 August 2021].
- "How Goa's Digital Approach to Diabetes Can Improve Universal Healthcare", World Economic Forum, 1 October 2019.
 [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2019/10/diabetes-in-india-digital-care/</u>.
- 10. "FAQs About Rare Diseases", National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences. [Online]. Available: https://rarediseases.info.nih.gov/diseases/pages/31/faqs-about-rare-diseases. [Accessed 20 August 2021].
- 11. "Global Data Access for Solving Rare Disease: A Health Economics Value Framework", World Economic Forum, 26 February 2020. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.weforum.org/reports/global-access-for-solving-rare-disease-a-health-economics-value-framework</u>.
- 12. L. Joszt, "Not So Rare: 300 Million People Worldwide Affected by Rare Diseases," AJMC: The Centre for Biosimilars, 8 November 2019. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.ajmc.com/view/not-so-rare-300-million-people-worldwide-affected-by-rare-diseases</u>.
- "Sustainable Healthcare in APAC: Financing and Delivery Models", World Economic Forum. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.weforum.org/projects/sustainable-health-in-apac-financing-and-delivery-models</u>. [Accessed 22 August 2021].
- 14. Pre-workshop survey responses, 2021.
- 15. Ibid.
- 16. "Immunization", World Health Organization, 5 December 2019. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/facts-in-pictures/detail/immunization</u>.
- 17. Singapore co-creation workshop.
- 18. India co-creation workshop.
- 19. H. J. Larson et al., "The State of Vaccine Confidence 2016: Global Insights Through a 67-Country Survey", EBioMedicine 12, October 2016, 295–301.
- 20. L. Du and G. Huang, "Japan's Bitter Vaccine History Creates Hurdle in COVID-19 Fight", The Japan Times, 23 December 2020. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.japantimes.co.jp/news/2020/12/23/national/japan-vaccine-history-coronavirus/</u>.
- 21. Idea crowdsourcing.
- 22. "Australian Journal of Primary Health", Australian Institute for Primary Care and Ageing; School of Public Health, La Trobe University, 2019.
- 23. "How a Diabetes Care and Education Specialist Can Help You", ADCES. [Online]. Available: https://www.diabeteseducator.org/living-with-diabetes/how-a-diabetes-educator-can-help-you.
- 24. "5 of the World's Most Ultra-Rare Diseases", The Motley Fool, 5 October 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.fool.com/investing/general/2013/08/04/5-of-the-worlds-most-ultra-rare-diseases.aspx.
- 25. R. Agrawal et al., "Baseline Knowledge of Rare Diseases in India A Survey", International Journal of Rare Diseases and Disorders 2 (1), 2019.
- 26. "Infrastructure the Key to Healthcare Improvement", Royal College of Physicians, February 2015. [Online]. Available: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6465866/.

- 27. "Transforming Healthcare with Technology-Enabled Care", Monsenso, 17 June 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.monsenso.com/transforming-healthcare-with-technology-enabled-care/.
- "Innovating in Healthcare Delivery: A Systematic Review and a Preference-Based Framework of Patient and Provider Needs", University of Washington School of Medicine, Seattle, 27 August 2019. [Online]. Available: https://innovations.bmj.com/content/5/2-3/92.
- 29. "Key Strategies for Maximising Data Analytics in Healthcare", Selerity, 6 January 2021. [Online]. Available: https://seleritysas.com/blog/2021/01/06/key-strategies-for-maximising-data-analytics-in-healthcare/.
- "Public-Private Partnerships in Practice: Collaborating to Improve Health Finance Policy in Ghana and Kenya", Oxford Journals, 13 June 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6097457/.
- 32. "Changing Patient Behavior: The Next Frontier in Healthcare Value", Health International, 2012. [Online]. Available: https://healthcare.mckinsey.com/sites/default/files/791750_Changing_Patient_Behavior_the_Next_Frontier_in_ Healthcare_Value.pdf.
- 33. M. Lianto, W. Suprapto and M. Maizirwan, "The Analysis Factor of Medical Tourism", SHS Web of Conferences 76, 2020.
- 34.
 "Beyong the Carrot and the Stick: New Alternatives for Influencing Customer Behavior", Harvard Business Review, 26 February 2008. [Online]. Available: <u>https://hbr.org/2008/02/beyond-the-carrot-and-the-stic-1</u>.
- S. Bennett et al., "Carrot and Stick: State Mechanisms to Influence Private Provider Behavior", 9 March 1994. [Online]. Available: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10133096/</u>.
- 36. "Global Spending on Health: A World in Transition", World Health Organization, 2019.
- 37. "HPV Vaccination in Southeast Asia Lessons Learned from a Pilot Program in Vietnam", National Institute of Hygiene and Epidemology, 2021. [Online]. Available: <u>https://path.azureedge.net/media/documents/RH_hpv_lessons_learned_vietnam.pdf</u>.
- "How Sustainability Bonds Bridged the Vaccine Funding Gap for Poorer Nations", Financial Times, 24 May 2021. [Online].
 Available: <u>https://www.ft.com/content/8b3c09cc-9ac1-4b6b-841d-63e226ea287a</u>.
- K. Strohecker and T. Wilkes, "Analysis: Vaccine Bonds Sales to Soar to Fund COVID-19 Shots for Poor Countries", Reuters, 22 December 2020. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/health-coronavirus-vaccine-bonds/analysis-vaccine-bond-sales-to-soar-to-fund-covid-19-shots-for-poor-countries-idlNKBN28W0M9</u>.
- 40. K. Ito, "The Rise in Social Impact Bonds in Japan," The Japan Times, 21 January 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.japantimes.co.jp/esg-consortium/2019/01/20/esg-consortium/rise-social-impact-bonds-japan/.
- 41. "Funding for Treatments for Rare Diseases in Singapore", Agency for Care Effectiveness, June 2020. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.ace-hta.gov.sg/docs/default-source/conference-posters/htai-2020_funding-of-rare-disease-treatment-in-singapore.pdf</u>.
- 42. "APEC: Action Plan on Rare Diseases", APEC. Available: <u>https://www.apec.org/-/media/Satellite/Rare-Diseases/</u> <u>APEC_ActionPlan.pdf</u>.
- 43. "Health Insurance Industry Pooling Mechanism Makes High Cost Drugs Accessible for Record Number of Canadians", Canadian Drug Insurance Pooling Corporation, 2021. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.globenewswire.com/news-</u>release/2020/01/14/1970381/0/en/Health-Insurance-Industry-Pooling-Mechanism-Makes-High-Cost-Drugs-Accessiblefor-Record-Number-of-Canadians.html..
- 44. "Are Sin Taxes Healthy for State Budgets?", PEW, 19 July 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/ research-and-analysis/reports/2018/07/19/are-sin-taxes-healthy-for-state-budgets.
- 45. "International Healthcare System Profiles: Australia", The Commonwealth Fund, 5 June 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.commonwealthfund.org/international-health-policy-center/countries/australia.
- 46. "International Monetary Fund, Australia". [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.imf.org/en/Countries/AUS</u>. [Accessed 16 August 2021].
- 47. "Population Growth (Annual %) Australia", The World Bank. [Online]. Available: <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/</u> <u>SP.POP.GROW?locations=AU</u>. [Accessed 16 August 2021].
- "Population Ages 65 and Above (% of Total Population) Australia", The World Bank. [Online]. Available: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.65UP.TO.ZS?end=2019&locations=AU&start=1961&view=chart . [Accessed 16 August 2021].
- 49. "World Population Prospects", 2019. [Online]. Available: https://population.un.org/wpp/DataQuery/.
- 50. "A \$2.8 Million Focus on Diabetes", Australian Government, Department of Health, 14 July 2015. [Online]. Available: https://www.health.gov.au/ministers/the-hon-greg-hunt-mp/media/a-28-million-focus-on-diabetes.
- 51. "What We're Doing about Rare Diseases", Australian Government, Department of Health, 11 March 2020. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.health.gov.au/health-topics/chronic-conditions/what-were-doing-about-chronic-conditions/what-were-doing-</u>
- 52. "Value and Affordability of Private Health Insurance and Out-of-Pocket Medical Costs", The Senate, Community Affairs References Committee, December 2017. [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.health.gov.au/resources/publications/value-and-affordability-of-private-health-insurance-and-out-of-pocket-costs</u>.

53. "International Health Care System Profiles: India", The Commonwealth Fund, 5 June 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.commonwealthfund.org/international-health-policy-center/countries/india. 54. "International Monetary Fund, India". [Online]. Available: https://www.imf.org/en/Countries/IND . [Accessed 16 August 2021]. "Population growth (annual %) – India", The World Bank. [Online]. Available: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP. 55. GROW?locations=IN. [Accessed 22 August 2021]. "Population Ages 65 and Above (% of Total Population) – India", The World Bank. [Online]. Available: https://data.worldbank.org/ 56. indicator/SP.POP.65UP.TO.ZS?end=2019&locations=IN&start=1961&view=chart . [Accessed 16 August 2021]. "Life Expectancy at Birth, Total (Years) – India", The World Bank. [Online]. Available: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/ 57. <u>SP.DYN.LE00.IN?locations=IN</u>. [Accessed 16 August 2021]. "Pune Ranks First, Delhi-NCR at Bottom among Top 8 Cities on Health Infra Parameters: Report", Financial Express, 58. 12 May 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.financialexpress.com/lifestyle/health/pune-ranks-first-delhi-ncr-at-bottomamong-top-8-cities-on-health-infra-parameters-report/2250613/. Gavi, the Vaccine Alliance, "India". [Online]. Available: https://www.gavi.org/programmes-impact/country-hub/south-east-59. asia/india . [Accessed 16 August 2021]. 60. "International Health Care System Profiles: Japan", The Commonwealth Fund, 5 June 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.commonwealthfund.org/international-health-policy-center/countries/japan. "Japan", International Monetary Fund, July 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.imf.org/en/Countries/JPN. 61. "Population Growth (Annual %) – Japan", The World Bank. [Online]. Available: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/ 62. <u>SP.POP.GROW?locations=JP</u>. [Accessed 22 August 2021]. 63. "Population Ages 65 and Above (% of Total Population) - Japan", The World Bank. [Online]. Available: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.65UP.TO.ZS?end=2019&locations=JP&start=1961&view=chart. [Accessed 22 August 2021]. "Life Expectancy at Birth, Total (Years) – Japan", The World Bank. [Online]. Available: https://data.worldbank.org/ 64. indicator/SP.DYN.LE00.IN?locations=JP. [Accessed 22 August 2021]. 65. "Population, Total – Vietnam", The World Bank. [Online]. Available: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP. TOTL?locations=VN. [Accessed 23 August 2021]. 66. "Population Growth (Annual %) – Vietnam", The World Bank. [Online]. Available: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/ SP.POP.GROW?locations=VN. [Accessed 23 August 2021]. 67. "Population Ages 65 and Above (% of Total Population) - Vietnam", The World Bank. [Online]. Available: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.65UP.TO.ZS?locations=VN. [Accessed 23 August 2021]. 68. "Life Expectancy at Birth, Total (Years) – Vietnam", The World Bank. [Online]. Available: https://data.worldbank.org/ indicator/SP.DYN.LE00.IN?locations=VN. [Accessed 23 August 2021]. 69. "Demographics in Vietnam - Statistics & Facts", Statista, 22 March 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.statista.com/ topics/5991/demographics-in-vietnam/. "Vietnam: Aging Population Forecast 2015–2050", Statista, 17 March 2021. [Online]. Available: https://www.statista.com/ 70. statistics/713671/vietnam-forecast-aging-population/. S. Nguyen, "Marry by 30, Two Children by 35: Vietnam's Plan for Young People to Boost Its Economy", SCMP, 71. 12 May 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.scmp.com/week-asia/economics/article/3083869/marry-30-two-children-35-vietnams-plan-young-people-boost-its. 72. "National Expanded Program on Immunization, Comprehensie Multi-Year Plan; cMYP for Extended Program on Immunization 2016–2020", Ministry of Health Viet Nam, August 2015. [Online]. Available: https://extranet.who.int/ countryplanningcycles/sites/default/files/planning_cycle_repository/viet_nam/cmyp_vietnam_2016-2020.pdf. 73. "Administrative Map of Vietnam", Nations Online. [Online]. Available: https://www.nationsonline.org/oneworld/map/ vietnam-administrative-map.htm. [Accessed 20 August 2021]. 74. "Sharing Lessons Learned from Vietnam's National Electronic Immunization Registry to Improve Global Vaccination Coverage", Path, 29 April 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.path.org/media-center/sharing-lessons-learnedfrom-vietnams-national-electronic-immunization-registry-to-improve-global-vaccination-coverage/#:~:text=For%20 Health%20Professionals-,Sharing%20lessons%20learned%20from%20Vietnam's%20national%20ele. H. Dang et al., "Determinants of Scale-Up from a Small Pilot to a National Electronic Immunization Registry in Vietnam: 75. Qualitative Evaluation", Journal of Medical Internet Research 22 (9), 2020. [Online]. Available: https://bidinitiative.org/wpcontent/uploads/IDEAL-VN-manuscript.pdf. "Increasing Life-Course Immunisation", Sustainable Healthcare in APAC. [Online]. Available: https://sustainablehealthcare. 76. co/index.php?gf-download=2021%2F01%2FProblem3_AIFINAL.pdf&form-id=2&field-id=5&hash=91796e2c5982e47443 99cb1dea42ec0054969c49a825ccce0be4f6f084ca1ff2. 77. "How It Works", reach52, 2020. [Online]. Available: https://reach52.com/how-it-works/. 78. "reach52: Health Access Solutions for Rural Populations in Emerging Markets", reach52. [Online]. Available: https://sustainablehealthcare.co/index.php?gf-download=2021%2F01%2Freach52-intro.pdf&form-id=5&field-id=5&hash <u>=bd23029e1c59e91f497cb77e8b8a63c1616dcc3ec42b168ab1c8c9c9c4f00191</u>. 79. "Survey Report: The Global South eHealth Observatory 2020, reach52", The Global South eHealth Observatory, 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.odess.io/files/documents/enguetes/Reach52_Rapport%20d%27engu%C3%AAte_EN.pdf.

COMMITTED TO IMPROVING THE STATE OF THE WORLD

The World Economic Forum, committed to improving the state of the world, is the International Organization for Public-Private Cooperation.

The Forum engages the foremost political, business and other leaders of society to shape global, regional and industry agendas.

World Economic Forum

91–93 route de la Capite CH-1223 Cologny/Geneva Switzerland

Tel.: +41 (0) 22 869 1212 Fax: +41 (0) 22 786 2744 contact@weforum.org www.weforum.org